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Corporate Information (Continued)
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Highlights
MBREE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—BLFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-_4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Revenue Weas 341,405 343,498
Gross profit EH 61,693 67,023
Net loss R (13,746) (51,872)
Loss per share (RMB cent) FREEARES)
— Basic —FK (3.47) (12.81)
Revenue Gross profit Net loss
FEBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
350,000 - 80,000 0
300,000 | THOKOD) o
-10,000
60,000 |
250,000 -
20,000 |-
50,000 |
200,000}
40,000 -30,000 |-
150,000 |-
30,000
-40,000 |+
100,000 |-
20,000 -
-50,000 |-
50,000 -
10,000 -
-60,000 -
2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBRHE(E)

THE BREAKDOWN OF TOTAL REVENUE BY TYPE

OF SERVICES

BRI R E S 7 B4 U 53 B AT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-BLFE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR¥TFr

Property management services Y E IR R 289,885 290,233

Property developer related services V)2 B B RE AR TS 9,651 18,773

Value-added services HEARS 41,869 34,492

Total #aEt 341,405 343,498
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET EEEERRE

As at 31 December
BR+=—B=+—H

2023 2022

—E=F —E-fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥BFIT AR¥Tr

Total assets BEE 439,484 416,253

Total liabilities FEN=E 203,610 203,479

Total equity R 235,874 212,774

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“AGM”
[RRBFARE

“Articles of Association”
[E=f240A) ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZZBE]

“Beijing Herun”

[ER&E]

“Beijing Hongkun”

[dE ki |
“Board” or “Board of Directors”
[EFe |

“BVI”
[REBELES]

“Company” or “our Company”

VNS NCTE

“controlling shareholder”
[ AR R |

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EERTAl

Definitions

Bx

RAFHRA - BXERBMREEIN A TH
EEETIIEE -

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
B BITH AR RIRFBFEARE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
RAREIEET REFTRIAEEIZ 4R

the audit committee established by the Board to supervise the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting procedures and the Company’s financial
statements review

HEFERUNBEZEZES  AREEARANEA NP BRERFIALAK
NANPBRRES

Beijing Herun Asset Management Company Limited* (It & BHEEEEA
R/ 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on 13 November 2013 and owned by Mr. Zhao Weihao and Ms. Wu Hong as
t0 99% and 1%, respectively

tRABEEERERAR  — MR _E—=F+—A+=HREPREE
R KIBRAR  BHBESREERRILZETHRIEFI9%K1%

Beijing Hongkun Property Management Company Limited* (1t 53 i) 3
EIEF R A A, alimited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC on 16 July 2010 and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company

b FEEYEERER AR —MR _ZE—ZFLA+NBIREPBIEERK
YHERRQT  RARRNEEZEE2EWEBRR

the board of Directors of our Company
KAREEE

the British Virgin Islands
RBEREE

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited (& 2 &£ E#E R AR A Al), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26
March 2019

HESEZERAERAR  —ARZZE-—NF=ZA- T BERSHSTMK
S EVERERRAF]

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
B LWRAME T ZAe RS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules
LR BIFERCA PRSI R B R TR

BEEEERERAR —BI=FFR
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Definitions (Continued)

#E=(E)

“Deed of Acting in Concert”

[—BiT8I &

“Director(s)”

(2%

“GFA”
[ EEmE A

n o«

“Group”, “Ye Xing Group”, “our Group”,
“we” or “Us”

(AR [&E]  [EEEE IR

"HK
(%7t

“Hong Kong”
[&% ]

“Hongkun Group”
[ G E |

“Hongkun Jituan”
G E A ]
“Independent Third Party”

[BIE=7]

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

the deed of acting in concert dated 24 July 2019 and executed by Mr.
Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin whereby they confirmed
their acting in concert arrangements as more particularly set out in
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders and Parent Group — Our
Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Acting in Concert” in the Prospectus. Ms.
Wu Hong is Mr. Zhao Bin’s spouse and Mr. Zhao Weihao is their son. They
are together our controlling shareholders

MEESEE  RUKTMEWEEFENERR_ZE-NFLAZTMAE
B—BITEIRE - Bt - REBR T REN BT L - EEFEHRA
PR E A2 A e[ B PR AR R SR AN B 5= [ A R AR — TR PR PR IR ER — — BT 31224
oo RETLHZEWRAENRME  BREFELERMANTE T - REHLRZRK
IR AR R

the director(s) of our Company

RARMES

gross floor area
JEEEETE

our Company and our subsidiaries, and Chinese entities controlled by the
Company through contractual arrangements
RRE - HB AT RERE LTI ARRIEHIN PR B

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BENRIEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRRITTHRE

Hongkun Jituan and its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures
BHEENTREMBAR  BMEATREGERHE

o>

Hongkun Jituan Company Limited* (J§#& E F R A 7l), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 15 September 2014
and wholly-owned by Beijing Herun

WHEBRBRAR  —HRZZE—WFNATRARBEHEEERIHER
AEkpItRE B2 EER

third party who is not connected with any of our Directors or controlling
shareholders or any of our subsidiaries or any of our respective associates
(within the meaning under the Listing Rules)

BB PRI E B RRR SR M E RN E A RIS A& EMEA(EE
R ETRADBEAENE=H



“Jiangsu Wanhao”

[IgREs]

“Listing”

[ E )
“Listing Date”
[ EEE]
“Listing Rules”
[ LAl
“Model Code”
[1E%E<PR

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEg]
“Parent Group”
[&5HE |

“PRC” or “China”

[ ]

“Prospectus”
[BRERER]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FZEE =]

“Reporting Period”
[R5

“RMB”
[AREE]

Definitions (Continued)

E=(E)

Jiangsu Wanhao Property Management Co., Ltd.* (I# & ZWERBER
A 7)), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC on 24 September
2003

IHEBZYERBERAR  —HAR-ZZEZ=FNLA-+NBEFHFMAK
UHEREERTA

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 13
March 2020
ROV - -_TF=A+=AEHIMER LT

13 March 2020, being the date on which the Shares were listed on the
Stock Exchange

“TTF=RA+=8 " BIROREBR ETR B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time
BEBMERXGMERAREF LR - K TRHERISHHER

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
LR AIMERCIFTE M L BT AZE T ETESF X HITAETA

the nomination committee of the Board

E=gRA%8YE

Beijing Herun and its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures
IEREEREMBAR  BE QAR REERE

the People’s Republic of China, for the purposes of this annual report, does
not include Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

FEARKENE  BAFERSHE @ TEEEE - FEARATBEDRPIREF
RITTIR R A&

the prospectus dated 28 February 2020 issued by the Company, which
relates to the Listing

AARTENEMA-Z_ZF A+ /\ANBERER - AREHELT

the remuneration committee of the Company

ExgTMERE

for the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=#+-_A=1t—BI=EE

Renminbi, China’s lawful currency

TEIEEEBARE

BEEEERERAR —BI=FFR
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Definitions (Continued)

#E=(E)

“SFO”

[EH LG GG )
“Share(s)’

[ &f5

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R ]

“sq.m.”

[FH5K]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 7 |

“Tianjin Hongsheng”

[ RERRE ]

For identification purposes only

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as amended, supplemented, or
otherwise modified from time to time

B RGO EIARERT - FFRsARAMTT B k)

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company
RARRAREREE0.ONVEITH LB

holders of the Share(s)
[ESLESTEPN

square meter

FHK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERXHMERAT

Tianjin Hongsheng Property Services Company Limited* (K258 5% %) % AR 75
BR/AR]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on 27 December 2013 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
KEBREYERBAR AR —BR_E—=ZF+_A -+t BREPBEE
BRI BRAT - RARARNZEWB AR

- s



2023 Honors and Awards
—E_-FEENRIE

G

202344k {EE LIRS /3top101tik

C= =)

IERIBH R BB AR AT

SETFAT2020 51 (T4 TS I 0™ B, L ST SEE0) TR Sl .
s SN, DA A, ot PABB

We won the honor “2023 Top 10 Service Power Property Management Companies in North China”
B[ 2023 ALY HE ARF HTOP101R % |

2023%e b m Bk AR 53 R Fe b

CeaR©

RGN EIRFIRAE]

=D

SESH T2020 077 4L kBN TS0 B, TS YR SER0) 0 seab ik
5% LIRS SRR, DA% AL, BORBFSOIR LA R LT PR

We won the honor “2023 Quality Leading Companies of North China in Property Service”
SR 2023 L B M EIRBEL B

9
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

Dear Shareholders and friends who are interested in Ye Xing Group, | am
honored to present the 2023 Annual Report of Ye Xing Group on behalf of
the Company and the Board of Directors.

As the epidemic has passed, the property management industry is
gradually returning to organic development. And with many external
environmental challenges such as the downturn in the real estate
industry, the current industry is facing a situation of multiple businesses,
irregularity, uncertainty, and complexity. The Group adheres to its original
intention, reorganizes internal and external risks, formulates strategic
policies based on the situation, takes multiple measures such as ensuring
stability and improving management efficiency, and concentrates our
resources to deeply cultivate the existing market and achieve stable
growth.

ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT

In order to fulfill the mission of “creating an enjoyable living environment”
(EAFIEBRFLY), Ye Xing Group focuses on creating the best customer
experience and becoming a service provider for a better life. We pursue
excellence, focuses on quality and details, and continuously improves our
service capabilities and management level to achieve our mission.

Our Group reiterated our “family service system”, a service model based
on the individual needs, overall feeling, and service effectiveness of
customers, characterized by quality, speed, warmth, all-round, and
diversification. At the same time, our Group requires service personnel
to possess a brand new service philosophy, good service attitude, and
excellent service quality.

Our Group actively explores the integration of property management and
value-added services, achieving equal emphasis on basic property and
value-added services. With community operation centers as the core
and owner demand oriented, value-added services involve all aspects of
owner life, establish a more harmonious service relationship with owners,
enhance enterprise development momentum and brand strength, and
further promote the development of socialized family service industry.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

While promoting high-quality and stable development, our Group has
always regarded fulfilling social responsibility as an important part of
sustainable development. We actively respond to the national goal of
“dual carbon” and have carried out orderly waste recycling and waste
classification work in national projects, promoting the green transformation
of development methods. At the same time, we will continue to pay
attention to social public welfare issues, carry out public welfare activities,
practice the concept of green development through practical actions, and
promote the construction of green civilization.

ANNUAL RESULTS IN 2023

In 2023, the Company achieved revenue of approximately RMB341.4
million, representing a slight decrease of about 0.6% year on year;
realized gross profit of approximately RMB61.7 million, representing a
slight decrease of about 7.9% year on year; and realized a net loss of
approximately RMB13.7 million (2022: net loss approximately RMB51.9
million). The gross profit margin in 2023 was 18.1%, representing a
decrease of 1.4 percentage points compared with 2022.

As of the end of 2023, the Group’s contracted GFA was approximately
15.9 million sg.m., and the total revenue-bearing GFA under management
exceeded 12.9 million sg.m., representing an increase of 6.0% and
4.0% compared with 2022 respectively; the number of the Company’s
managed residential property projects was 59, with a total revenue-
bearing GFA of 12.0 million sg.m., accounting for 93.3% of total revenue-
bearing GFA; and the number of the Company’s managed non-residential
property projects was 17, with a total revenue bearing GFA of 0.9 million
sg.m., accounting for 6.7% of total revenue bearing GFA. The non-
residential property projects include shopping malls, office buildings and
industrial parks.

ERHRE(R)

ERDERERRERNRAR  A5E—H
BETHEEERACEHERRNESR
*% ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁl%W%ﬂMﬁﬁ'E

REFRREYEWRMEE D ET
¢ ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ@@i“°ﬁh FrAERE
A AEHEE  RRAREY  UERT
BRITAREERIER - HEREXHER

TECCEFEEEERE

ZEZ=F  ARABREEBRANARE
34148 ETT ' FILLEERA%)0.6%  BIREF)
PAREEG1.7EETT - FILLEE H/J\ZW 9% :
BERFEBNARKI37TEEL(ZE ==
FRBEOARES1I9HET)  — T =
FEMEELE181% B ZTZZFRP7T

14EE DS -
BEZZT--FFK SEEYBEEEY
159FBF AKX > SIBANREE E%taﬁ

12988 F K B =T Z—F 5 R3Em
6.0%824.0% : ANAR|FEE(TEIE B 59fE - 42
LISZmL AEEA1208E K 154 u&ﬁ%
HMIER93.3% : IEFEBE 171 - Al
EEMBEA0IBBE K - (B L;%@F
f6.7% - IEFEHEBIEES BTENE
¥H -

-

BEEEERERAR —BI=FFR
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(R)

FUTURE OUTLOOK: ACHIEVING HIGH-QUALITY
GROWTH WITH DIVERSIFIED EXPANSION

Relying on our own management scale and the advantages of being
business comprehensive, our Group pursues high-quality growth, actively
deploys vertical tracks in segmented fields, and builds core advantages
in residential property, commercial office property and other fields.

At the same time, our Group actively seeks diversified expansion and
successfully signed contracts for property projects such as Chengdu
Metro and Tianjin Weicai Kindergarten during the year. This has also
achieved dual breakthroughs in urban operation and education industry
layout, which will be a new growth driver for our Group in future.

In a constantly changing environment, the Company has the confidence

to assume corporate responsibility, smooth transition, and provide better
performance to Shareholders.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Overview

The Group is a reputable property management service provider offering
comprehensive property management and related services for residential
and non-residential properties in the PRC. Its parent group, Hongkun
Group, is a leading property developer in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
Region and has been ranked among the Top 100 Property Developers
in the PRC* (/1 B = b = [ % 1 % & 58 ). The Group had been ranked
one of the Top 100 Property Management Companies in the PRC* (FF
Y3 AR 1% B 58 1 %) by China Index Academy* (71 Bl #5 818 75 B ) for six
consecutive years since 2016. Through upholding the Group’s service
philosophy of “creating an enjoyable living environment (:E AFIEBF L)
and the dedication to the Group’s core values of “friendliness, persistence,
innovation and excellence” in delivering its services, the Group envisions
to become an outstanding property management service provider
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided property
management services to properties spanning across 17 cities in the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region, Hainan Province, Hubei Province, Anhui
Province, Jiangsu Province and Guangdong Province, managing a total
revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 12.9 million sgq.m., comprising
59 residential properties (with over 95,000 units in total) and 17 non-
residential properties.

In 2023, the Company achieved a revenue of approximately RMB341.4
million, a slight decrease of about 0.6% year on year; realized gross profit
of approximately RMB61.7 million, a slight decrease of about 7.9% year
on year. The loss and total comprehensive loss for the year amounted
to approximately RMB13.7 million. The gross profit margin in 2023 was
18.1%, representing a decrease of 1.4 percentage points as compared
with 2022.

BERENWED

£ 6
XEME

AEEREEESHNNMESERBEER
BFREERIFEEEREEANDES
BREERE - ESSBERHEEAFTEE
MBLRWERER  YEAERTREHER
BHrEOR AEEFE T AFRYBE
NENEFEERAERTEN T EDER
EERME o MBRAREE FAMEEH
DIKBRBE ST ERERBHETAEE
[RE - BF - 8lF - 28N LEE " &
EBMBESERATREMOMESTERYG
HEm R_T-_=F+=-A=+—H ' &
SEERBRFEHEME - BEE - HILE -
THAE IHARERAN @AM mRE
METERY  TRAKSEEMBELN12.9
BEFHX  BESOEEEME(EHBS
95,000fEB4L) M A7TBIEEEYE -

ZEZ=F  ARABERKREHARKI41.4
BETT ' FLLERAD40.6%  BREFLA
R¥e61.788 7T ' AL 479%  F&
EEREMEZEEBELRBEHNARKIZ7TES
Lo ZEZ=FFEMNEE181% ' HE=F
——ERD1IAMEBDE -

-

EEEEERERAT —ZBZFFR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business Overview (Continued)

As of the end of 2023, the Group’s contracted GFA was approximately
15.9 million sg.m., and the total revenue-bearing GFA under management
exceeded 12.9 million sq.m., representing an increase of 6.0% and 4.0%,
respectively, as compared with 2022; the number of the Company’s
managed residential property projects was 59, with a total revenue-
bearing GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg.m., accounting for 93.3% of
the total revenue-bearing GFA; the number of the Company’s managed
non-residential property projects was 17, with a total revenue-bearing
GFA of approximately 0.9 million sg.m., accounting for 6.7% of the total
revenue-bearing GFA.

The table below sets forth our (i) contracted GFA; (ii) revenue-bearing
GFA; and (iii) number of properties under our management in relation to
the properties for which we had commenced our provision of property
management services, as at the dates indicated:

R ERE ()
BB (E)

HEZTZ=FK  ~A5EMNA0EERE
NA159OBBTH K BRI REEE
HB1I298BF K HEZZEZ—F 55|
#IN6.0% K4.0%  RRREEEEEEBS9
8 BUSEEMBELEN12088F 5K
AW FEEmMEMNIE.3% : RAREEI
FEBE17E - BREEEAEAN0IES
FITK (AU EETENG.7% °

TREIIRFR B HARFIN()E HREmE
(iR EEmE - R(iFRMEEWE (R
PEms SEREHRYEEERTENMEMS)
%A -

As at 31 December

R+=—H=+—8~
2023 2022

—E-=H —E-—F
Residential Properties EE=MWE
Contracted GFA (000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEEBE(FELK) (K7 13,746 13,208
Revenue-bearing GFA (‘000 sq.m.) WesBEmaE(FF oK) 12,013 11,205
Number of properties managed EEM*ESE 59 56
Non-residential Properties FIEEYWE
Contracted GFA ("000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEmE(TFF LK) (M) 2,109 1,743
Revenue-bearing GFA (‘000 sq.m.) WesBEmaE(FF oK) 859 1,214
Number of properties managed EEM*ESE 17 19
Total BEt
Contracted GFA ("000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEmE(TFF LK) (M) 15,855 14,951
Revenue-bearing GFA (‘000 sq.m.) WesBEmaE(FF oK) 12,872 12,419
Number of properties managed EEM*ESE 76 75

Note: Contracted GFA refers to the total GFA managed and the total GFA to
be managed by the Group under signed property management service

agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Future Outlook

As the epidemic has passed, the property management industry is
gradually returning to organic development. Our Group has never
forgotten our vision to provide quality service and life, and firmly move
forward in times of economic uncertainty.

Adhering to own Business and Expanding Territory

The current industry is facing a situation of multiple businesses,
irregularity, uncertainty, and complexity. We will concentrate resources to
deeply cultivate the existing markets and achieve stable growth. In 2023,
the Group successfully signed contracts for projects such as Beijing
Ideal Home Phase 4 and Phase 5, focused on cities through a centralized
strategy, continuously increased the density of single city projects, and
effectively reduced costs and improved efficiency.

At the same time, our Group actively seeks diversified expansion and
successfully signed contracts for property projects such as Chengdu
Metro and Tianjin Weicai Kindergarten during the year. This has also
achieved dual breakthroughs in urban operation and education industry
layout, laying a solid foundation for the Company’s healthy development.

Quality Deeply Cultivating and Foundation Strengthening

Adhering to the service concept of “creating an enjoyable living
environment”, our Group always adheres to the customer centric
approach and continuously promotes the service of “standardized
operation + professional service + market-oriented development”.

In 2023, our Group reiterated our “family service system”. Starting from
the entire living cycle of residents, covering 16 major categories of
services, with the design of a total of 101 service details, covering every
bit of life from the four stages of being prospective property owners,
adaptation period, stability period, and being mature property owners.
We always take care of every member of a family with a cumulative and
persistent attitude and a caring approach.
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EE 75 (4])
AREE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Future Outlook (Continued)
Value Co-creation for the Benefits of Community

While promoting high-quality and stable development, our Group has
always regarded fulfilling social responsibility as an important part of
sustainable development, actively promoted a green and low carbon
lifestyle. We have orderly carried out waste recycling and waste
classification work in each project, promoting the green transformation
of development methods. At the same time, we will continue to pay
attention to social public welfare issues, carry out public welfare activities,
implement the concept of green development through practical actions,
and promote the construction of green civilization.

Keeping the Original Intention and Striving for the Future

Looking ahead to 2024, our Group will draw the blueprint to the end
with more enthusiasm, high fighting spirit, and pragmatic style, create
new achievements that are worthy to the enterprise and oneself, strive
for progress and excellence, and complete the pre-determined annual
goals and tasks with excellence. Our Group will continue to regard
quality as the primary force, continuously expand service boundaries,
integrate more space and formats, explore new development paths and
growth points, achieve high-quality and sustainable development, and
continuously create value for the society.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of Operations

The Group’s revenue was mainly derived from property management
services, property developer related services and value-added services.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total revenue was
approximately RMB341.4 million, representing a slight decrease of
approximately RMB2.1 million or approximately 0.6% as compared to
that of approximately RMB343.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue generated
from property management services, property developer related services
and value-added services contributed 84.9%, 2.8% and 12.3% to the total
revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Results of Operations (Continued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by type of
services for the periods indicated:

EEENWED N (E)
Zl-i% E«(nlﬁ)
REREE)

T%%X@Jﬁ’\ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ BRI RIS EL & 5 1)
Yz B 40

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—EC=4F —E-—F
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETFT % ARETFT %
Property management YEEIR R

services 289,885 84.9 290,233 84.5

Property developer related ¥ F 8 R MR R AR 75
services 9,651 2.8 18,773 o515
Value-added services B PRTS 41,869 12.3 34,492 10.0
Total st 341,405 100.0 343,498 100.0

Property Management Services

The revenue generated from property management services decreased
slightly by approximately RMBO0.3 million, or about 0.1% year on year.
Revenue generated from residential properties increased slightly by
approximately RMB5.4 million or approximately 2.3%, mainly due to (i)
the fully reflected contribution of property management fees from those
residential properties delivered in the second half of 2022; and (ii) 5
newly delivered residential properties during the year, which generated a
total revenue of approximately RMB2.9 million. Revenue generated from
non-residential properties decreased by approximately RMB5.7 million
or approximately 10.3%, primarily because 4 non-residential properties
were newly acquired during the year; the service agreements of 6 non-
residential properties expired during the year but not extended by us in
order to optimize our properties portfolio under management. The GFA
under management increased from approximately 12.4 million sg.m.
as at 31 December 2022 to approximately 12.9 million sgq.m. as at 31
December 2023.

MEEERG

MEBERBEENRSEFERLOOAR
0.3EETT  340.1% o (E 2 e U 25 RS
EINHWARKES A5 ETHLI2.3% * TEHRN
(WWZEZZFTH+FINNEEDELD
¥ENERMETERE - ARV FRITLZA
FEMERME  HtELRSHARE29H
BT MIEEEMENRE R HARKES.7
BEITLE410.3%  EEHNFAFTHIZIE
FEWEDE - I - BELCEEWENA
A AEBARBERNERERIEHIEE
EMEBERG HZ - WaZEABRENZ
T+ -_A=Z+—HANYI124658FH
KIEMERZZE-_=F+_A=+—BHH
12988FHK -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Results of Operations (Continued)

Property Management Services (Continued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing

GFA and our revenue derived from the property management services by
type of properties as at the dates indicated and for the periods indicated:

B 7 B e (48D

R L AL

AL Z&E
/\\I’_‘;Eu\/ ~ ( n=| )

il
ully

MEEERH% (R)

TREFIRATR B B K 7 ATR B 2R AP A Uk
SEEMEIYEEERBE SR YRR
S E AR -

As at/Year ended 31 December

RY=R=1-R/BERALEE

2023 2022
—BIzE - S
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
hEREER Wi WsREnE it
1000 sg.m. %  RMB000 %  '000sg.m. % RMB000 %
FEA % AEETZ % TR % AREFT %
Residential properties i 12,013 933 240,028 82.8 11,204 90.2 234,597 80.8
Non-residential properties ~ 3EENE 859 6.7 49,857 17.2 1215 98 55,636 192
12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0 12419 100.0 290,233 100.0

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing
GFA and our revenue derived from property management services by
type of property developers as at the dates indicated and for the periods
indicated:

TREINRAR B R AR AR IR
RREEMERYEEERBER IR ERE
ARSI A

As at/Year ended 31 December

WroA=t-B/BEZALER

2023 2022
kit 3 S
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
hEREER i WERERE it
000 sq.m. %  RMB'000 %  '000sg.m. % RMB000 %
FEA % AREFR % TR % AREFT %
Hongkun Group AREE 10,195 79.2 259,931 89.7 9447 76.1 268,088 88.9
Third party property developers #=711%FE% 2617 208 29,954 103 29072 29 32,145 111
12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0 12,419 100.0 290,233 100.0

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWEI N (E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) B 7% [ 68 (48)
Results of Operations (Continued) KB AR (48)
Property Management Services (Continued) MEEERK (&)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing TRETIAFTR B B R A TR BB M 48 U
GFA and our revenue derived from property management services by mEEEERYEERRB W SRIIEES
geographic coverage as at the dates indicated and for the periods HE B AR -

indicated:

As at/Year ended 31 December

WroA=t-8/BEZALER

2023 2022
“E-CE - S
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
WERERE g YmEsEE Wi

1000 sg.m. %  RMB'000 %  '000sg.m. % RMB000 %

FEER % AREFR % FERR % AREfT %

Beijing IR 2,552 19.9 93,164 3241 2,776 24 98,752 340

Tianjin R 1,767 13.7 52,807 18.2 1,487 12.0 45,648 15.7

Hebei Province EbIE) 4,061 315 80,574 218 3519 283 78912 272

Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region REENE 8,380 65.1 226,545 78.1 7,782 62.7 223,312 76.9

Hainan Province el 596 46 9,424 33 504 48 9,131 32

Hubei Province i) 784 6.1 19,419 6.7 784 6.3 16,816 58

Shaanxi Province WEE - - - - 42 03 2,704 09

Anhui Province ZH4E 379 29 2,899 10 379 31 5,620 19

Jiangsu Province THE 2,716 212 29,838 103 2713 218 30,289 105

Shanghai L - - 0 02 92 07 1537 05

Jiangxi Province IfE - - - - 2 02 362 0.1

Guangdong Province ER4 17 0.1 1,050 04 12 0.1 462 02

12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0 12,419 100.0 290,233 100.0

Property Developer Related Services Y B B A AR RABR TS

Due to the downturn of China’s real estate market, the revenue generated ZHEEHEMGEEANTE  VMERERD

from property developer related services decreased by approximately HERBESANKEREZ S -_—_F1+=

RMB9.1 million or about 48.4% from approximately RMB18.8 million for A=+T—HILEFENOARB188EEILH

the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB9.7 million for DPIARBINEETHLI84%EHET

the year ended 31 December 2023. T=F+ A=+ BULEFEHAREITE
=HJT °
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Results of Operations (Continued)

Property Developer Related Services (Continued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the number of property
developer related services projects and our revenue derived from

property developer related services by geographic coverage as at the
dates indicated and for the periods indicated:

B 7 B e (48D

PO =
RS (1E)

Wt

) 359 3% B AR B AR 3% (4R

TREHIRFR BB R R AR R R E
AR ARSI B 8B LR M EREEE
BRI IR A S E 80 H A4

As at/Year ended 31 December

WtZA=t+-B/BEZALEE

2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-C
Number of Number of
projects Revenue projects Revenue
BEHYE [ EEHE Wiz
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ABEFT % AREFr %
Beijing 5135 1 467 49 2 273 15
Tianjin XE 3 2,009 20.8 6 5510 29.4
Hebei Province Epi) 8 5,293 54.8 9 8,150 434
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region REEMR 12 7,769 80.5 17 13,933 743
Hainan Province isfezE) 1 423 4.4 1 823 44
Hubei Province HitE 1 360 3.7 2 1,415 75
Anhui Province ZHE 1 1,099 1.4 1 2,014 10.7
Guangdong Province ER4E - - - 1 588 3.1
15 9,651 100.0 22 18,773 100.0
Value-added Services B R

The revenue generated from value-added services increased by
approximately RMB7.4 million or about 21.4% from approximately
RMB34.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB41.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in number of projects managed, and
our Group has invested more resources including setting up a team to
expand the value-added services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWEI N (E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) B 75 51 RE (48
Results of Operations (Continued) KB AR (48)
Value-added Services (Continued) BERR (&)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue derived from TREIIR PR AAE R I E RIS S HY
our value-added services for the periods indicated: BAAE

Year ended 31 December

W+=A=+—-H BEZBLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Revenue Revenue
Wz W zs
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARYFT % ARETFT %
Home living services KIEHETERTS
(Note 1) (HfsF1) 19,407 46.4 8,186 23.7
Leasing of common areas AR
(Note 2) (Kiaz2) 21,243 50.6 25,019 726
Others Hit 1,219 3.0 1,287 3.7
41,869 100.0 34,492 100.0

Notes: Hiat

(1) Our home living services primarily included our collection of electricity tariffs, (1) BMOREELEERBEEZELERMWERE
air-conditioning and heating fees, household repair and maintenance service B ZREMNEREE - mRMEENETIE
provided to property owners and residents of our managed residential or FEMENEEREFPIEHREEERRE
non-residential properties. BT -

(2)  Our leasing of common areas primarily represented the leasing of certain (2) BMHEBEARESFZREBERMAETE
common areas of our managed residential or non-residential properties FESFEENENETRARERTE=S
to third-party services providers for setting up advertisement lightboxes, PRIGHERE AR IEERM « ZBKEE
distilled water vending machines, screens in lifts and other facilities. - EETARER R HEA R o

-
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Cost of Services

Our cost of services primarily consist of (i) labour costs which arise mainly
from the security, cleaning and gardening services; (ii) subcontracting
costs; (iii) utility expenses; (iv) office expenses; and (v) maintenance
costs.

Our cost of services increased by approximately 1.2% from approximately
RMB276.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB279.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase
was primarily attributable to (i) the continuous increase in number of our
projects under management and total revenue-bearing GFA; and (ii) the
increase in resource investment include setting up a team to develop the
business of value-added services.

To maximise our cost and operational efficiency, we outsourced our
cleaning, gardening, equipment maintenance, site security services and
car park management to Independent Third Party subcontractors. We
believe that the subcontracting arrangement allows us to leverage the
resources and expertise of the subcontractors, reduce our operating
costs, and enhance our overall efficiency and profitability.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit of the Group was
approximately RMB61.7 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMBS5.3 million or approximately 7.9% as compared to approximately
RMB67.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit
margin was 18.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 19.5%
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in gross profit
margin was mainly due to the significant decrease of revenue from non-
residential properties which had relatively high gross profit margin.

Selling Expenses and Administrative Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of (i) promotional
expenses; (ii) salaries and allowances for our sales personnel; and (iii)
travelling and entertainment expenses. The total selling expenses of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were approximately
RMBS3.8 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB1.9
million or approximately 100.0% as compared with approximately RMB1.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily
because more resources were allocated to sales team by the Company to
expand our business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Selling Expenses and Administrative Expenses (Continued)

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) salaries and
allowances for our administrative and management personnel in our
headquarters; (ii) travelling expenses; (iii) professional fees; (iv) lease-
related expenses; and (v) bank charges.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the administrative expenses of
the Group were approximately RMB49.3 million, representing a slight
increase of approximately RMBO0.1 million or approximately 0.2% as
compared to approximately RMB49.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Other Income

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB2.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB0.9 million or about 30.0% as compared to that of
approximately RMB3.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
decrease was mainly because the bank interest income decreased by
approximately RMBO0.3 million or about 20.0% in 2023.

Impairment Loss of Trade and Other Receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the impairment loss of trade and
other receivables through profit or loss was approximately RMB5.8 million
(2022: RMB38.4 million). The impairment loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 mainly included the impairment loss of trade and other
receivables from Wuxi Yongging Real Estate Company Limited* (55 &
EEARAF) (“Wuxi Yongqing”).

In prior years, the Group entered into two sole agency services
agreements (the “Agency Services Agreements”) with Wuxi Yongging,
a former fellow subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which the Group
should provide agency services to Wuxi Yongging for the lease/right-
of-use transfer of car parking spaces and/or shops developed by Wuxi
Yongging. Pursuant to the Agency Services Agreements, the Group
has paid refundable deposits to Wuxi Yongging that were equivalent
to the total base price of all the car parking spaces and/or shops (the
“Refundable Deposits”) to ensure its provision of agency services. Upon
expiry of the Agency Services Agreements, Wuxi Yongging should refund
all the remaining balance of the Refundable Deposits in full to the Group.
On 28 September 2021, Wuxi Yongging ceased to be a fellow subsidiary
of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Impairment Loss of Trade and Other Receivables
(Continued)

Upon expiry of the Agency Services Agreements, Wuxi Yongqing has
not yet refunded the outstanding Refundable Deposits to the Group.
On 6 April 2022, Wuxi Yongging transferred the right-of-use of 232 car
parking spaces with a total value of RMB7,888,000 to the Group in partial
settlement of the outstanding Refundable Deposits. In June 2022, Wuxi
Yongaing provided an undertaking to the Group pursuant to which Wuxi
Yongqing committed to refund the remaining balance of the Refundable
Deposits to the Group by 30 September 2023. In addition, Wuxi Yongqging
has guaranteed to obtain the Group’s approval before selling certain
assets (the “Assets”), proceeds from the sale of the Assets will be
distributed to the Group with first priority. In case if Wuxi Yongging is not
able to refund the Refundable Deposits by 30 September 2023, the Assets
will be transferred to the Group to offset with the Refundable Deposits.
As at 31 December 2022, the (i) outstanding Refundable Deposits
amounted to approximately RMB30.6 million, and (ii) other outstanding
trade receivables owed by Wuxi Yongqging to the Group amounted to
approximately RMB6.3 million (together, the “Receivables from Wuxi
Yongqing”).

On 17 February 2023, the Company became aware that according to a
civil ruling (R E & & £ ) issued by Xinwu District People’s Court, Wuxi
City, Jiangsu Province (JT & & E 5 mHT R [@ A REFT) (the “Court”), an
application for the bankruptcy and liquidation of Wuxi Yongqing by its
own creditor has been accepted by the Court (the “Bankruptcy”). Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 February 2023 for
further details.

In view of the Bankruptcy, the Board engaged CHFT Advisory and
Appraisal Ltd, an independent valuer, to perform an impairment
assessment on the Receivables from Wuxi Yongqging. According to the
results of such impairment assessment, the Company has recorded an
impairment loss of approximately RMB36.8 million, representing 100% of
the Receivables from Wuxi Yongqging.

Such impairment assessment was performed with reference to expected
credit loss model as required by HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments, and
under the key input that probability of default of Wuxi Yongging is 100%,
which is on the basis that the Bankruptcy took place.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Income Tax Credit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the income tax credit of the
Group was approximately RMB0.3 million (2022: approximately RMB4.1
million). The decrease in income tax credit was mainly due to the
decrease in deferred tax arising from the impairment losses recognised
during the year.

Loss for the Year

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the loss and total comprehensive
loss of the Group was approximately RMB13.7 million (2022:
approximately RMB51.9 million). The loss for the year was mainly due to
the impairment loss of trade and other receivables and impairment loss
of amounts due from related parties of approximately RMB24.7 million in
total.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB439.5 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
RMB416.3 million), and the total liabilities were approximately RMB203.6
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately RMB203.5 million). As at
31 December 2023, the current ratio was 1.5 (as at 31 December 2022:
1.6).

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group had no
outstanding bank borrowings and undrawn banking facilities.

The Board will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and maintain a strong liquidity
position to ensure that the Group is able to take full advantage of future
growth opportunities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment included (i) our building for our
staff quarters; and (ii) our furniture, fixtures and equipment in our office
premises and management offices and sites. Our property, plant and
equipment was approximately RMB37.2 million as at 31 December
2023, representing a decrease of approximately RMB4.5 million or
approximately 10.8% as compared with that of approximately RMB41.7
million as at 31 December 2022. It was primarily attributable to the
depreciation charged for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEWED AT ()

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets were approximately RMB12.6 million as at 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately RMB3.2
million or approximately 20.3% as compared with that of approximately
RMB15.8 million as at 31 December 2022. The decrease was mainly due
to the amortisation charge of intangible assets during the year.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represented our right to use our leased assets
(i.e. office premises and staff quarters) with lease terms of over one year,
which was initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses under HKFRS 16.

Our right-of-use assets increased by approximately RMB36.4 million or
about 4,044.4% from approximately RMB0.9 million as at 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB37.3 million as at 31 December 2023.

On 26 September 2023, Beijing Hongkun Ruibang Property Management
Company Limited (“Hongkun Ruibang”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the transfer agreement
with Beijing Ruihongda Enterprise Consulting Co., Ltd (“Beijing
Ruihongda”), pursuant to which Beijing Ruihongda agreed to transfer
and Hongkun Ruibang agreed to acquire the right-of-use of a property
at a consideration of approximately RMB36.8 million. The property has a
lease term until 30 June 2041. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 26 September 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 21 November 2023 for further details of the acquisition of the right-
of-use of the property.

Goodwil

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, our goodwill was approximately
RMB29.7 million.

Trade and Other Receivables

Our trade and other receivables increased by approximately RMB8.7
million or about 10.1% from approximately RMB86.4 million as at 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB95.1 million as at 31 December
2023. Our trade receivables increased by approximately RMB9.7 million
or about 14.1% from approximately RMB68.7 million as at 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB78.4 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly
due to the continuous growth in our business. Approximately RMB36.6
million of our trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 had been
recovered as at the date of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

Amounts due from Related Parties and Fellow
Subsidiaries

Trade nature amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Our trade nature amounts due from fellow subsidiaries mainly represented
the outstanding balances to be received from the Parent Group mainly
in respect of the provisions of our property management services and
property developer related services.

Our trade nature amounts due from fellow subsidiaries decreased by
approximately RMB19.8 million or about 24.3% from approximately
RMB81.4 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB61.6
million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the further impairment loss
made during the year.

Non-trade nature amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2023, we have no non-trade nature amount due from
fellow subsidiaries (as at 31 December 2022: approximately RMB1.1
million). Such amount as at 31 December 2022 mainly represented the
deposit paid to the fellow subsidiary to secure the sole agent status of
the sale of car parking spaces. Pursuant to the relevant agreement, the
amount shall be refunded upon completion of the sale of car parking
spaces. The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2023, the trade and other payables were
approximately RMB115.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB10.8 million or about 8.5% as compared to that of
approximately RMB126.4 million as at 31 December 2022. Of which our
account payables were approximately RMB37.8 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB6.1 million or about 13.9% as compared
to that of approximately RMB43.9 million as at 31 December 2022. In view
of the increasing weighting of subcontracting cost, we have accelerated
the settlement of payables due to suppliers, in order to maintain the
relationship with suppliers and bargain better prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities primarily represented the payments in advance
from our customers for the provision of our property management
services because pursuant to the property management service
agreements, we usually charge a fixed amount of fees by issuing demand
notes to property owners and residents, which are generally required to
be paid in advance on an annual basis for residential properties and on
a monthly or quarterly basis for non-residential properties. Our contract
liabilities increased by approximately RMB11.7 million or about 16.9%
to approximately RMB80.8 million as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31
December 2022: approximately RMB69.1 million), which was mainly due
to the new delivery of 5 residential properties under management during
the year.

Asset Pledged

As at 31 December 2023, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Proceeds from the Listing

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
13 March 2020 and 100,000,000 new Shares were issued. The over-
allotment option was partially exercised and 5,310,000 new Shares were
issued on 3 April 2020. After deducting the underwriting fees and relevant
expenses, net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately
HK$129.4 million (equivalent to approximately RMB116.2 million). The net
proceeds from the Listing were higher than that stated in the Prospectus,
due to a higher final issue price than the median of the range of offer
prices stated in the Prospectus and lower-than-expected underwriting
fees. Such proceeds will be applied in the manner consistent with that as
set out in the Prospectus which is detailed as follows:
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HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
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and scale of operations in the RISERE
PRC 64.4 65.0% 61.3 3.1
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Proceeds from the Listing (Continued)
Due to the abovementioned reasons, the net proceeds from the Listing

increased to HK$129.4 million and therefore our expected usage
increased proportionately as follows:

BRI (4K
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MR ERRE - EPAEREFREME

12048 &E T - BB MR A ZRRLH
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As at 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=f+-A=1-H

Proceeds
Actual planned
amount of  Approximate Proceeds Proceeds not  to be utilized
Intended usage net proceeds percentage utilized yet utilized in 2024
HE
1 b3
Fri&sA B [=E): REA i
Refz RH Bat P& FrigsE P&
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET A8¥T AEET BEET
Expansion of geographic presence  RABMAFEI A2 HRE
and scale of operations inthe PRC 823818 84.1 65.0% 470 37.1 37.1
Development and enhancementof  HEREBHABRMNERES
our information system and REMTEE
technological initiatives 16.9 13.0% 52 1.7 1.7
Expansion of our value-added services 1A% RIS ERH 129 10.0% 58 7.1 7.1
Staff development IR 26 2.0% 15 1.1 1.1
General working capital —KEEES 12.9 10.0% 6.4 65 6.5
Total @it 1294 100.0% 65.9 63.5 63.5

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has utilized part of such proceeds
according to the use as set out in the Prospectus. Approximately
RMB47.0 million, representing approximately 36.3% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for expansion of geographic presence and
scale of operations in the PRC, including acquiring Jiangsu Wanhao;
approximately RMB5.2 million, representing approximately 4.0% of
the actual amount of net proceeds, was utilized for development and
enhancement of our information system and technological initiatives,
including building up a resident communication database; approximately
RMB5.8 million, representing approximately 4.5% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for expansion of our value-added services,
including setting up a business development team; approximately
RMB1.5 million, representing approximately 1.2% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for staff development, including providing
training to sales team; and approximately RMB6.4 million, representing
approximately 4.9% of the actual amount of net proceeds, was utilized for
general working capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Proceeds from the Listing (Continued)

Due to the continuous downtrend of the real estate industry, the supply
of new property projects in the market decreases, the uncertainty of
acquisition pricing raised, we adopt a more cautious attitude towards
the evaluation of the targets for mergers and acquisitions. Therefore, our
progress in utilizing the proceeds from the Listing was delayed comparing
with the plan. The expected timeline for utilizing the unutilized proceeds
will be one year, which is based on our best estimation and will be subject
to change according to market conditions. The unutilized proceeds as at
31 December 2023 had been deposited in the bank accounts.

Future Plans of Major Investments and Capital Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any plans for major
investments and capital assets.

Significant Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group did not have any significant acquisitions and disposals.
Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The 2023 AGM will be held on 31 May 2024 and the notice of the 2023

AGM will be published and despatched to the Shareholders in the manner
as required by the Listing Rules in due course.

DIVIDEND

No final dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 31
December 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events of the Group after 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report.

EERENWED (&)

B FE R ()
FHRRFIEGE)

RWETERETTRE TS LHMER
BftER )  SHRBEENTHREMN L
Tt BAIE KRGS B R RAE R
MREE » Btk - RAIERR LTS HIER
EELLFTEIBEH - REYBHPIFRIEAR
BEEHERMR K A —F (L ER R MR KER
) YEeRBEWSRAAMEL R-F
—E=EF+ZA=+-HBRBANMEHRER
FARITRP -

BARENERNEEN ARG S

MRZFB_=F+_A=1t—H A&ELE
ERERKREMEREENE -

BEARBRHE

BRAREFTHEEIN  RBE-F-=F+=
AZ+—RILFE  ARELREFMERR
MR .

BEARE

RZZE=-_=F+=-A=+—H"
EREE -

BRERBFERZ
:@:_ik%ﬂikAhﬂ_y_Eiﬂ
=t+—H87 M_ZE-_=FRIBFK

SRS R E TR AR R E R E S R R T
W TBOR -

2

REE L &

EEZeTERREBE_T_=F1t_A
=T REFEZREEES

BEMRSER

R-B-_=F+ A=+ HRREBEARR
FRH AEBEYEHEMEAEIR

-
B
\

! /c‘

BEEERRARARE —T-=FFH

33



34

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 846 employees. Staff
costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB138.0 million.

The Company’s policy for determining the remuneration payable to
Directors is based on the skills, knowledge, involvement and performance
of individual Directors, with reference to the Company’s profitability, the
level of remuneration in the industry and prevailing market conditions.
To ensure that the Remuneration Committee can better advise on
the Group’s future remuneration policies and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee is informed of the Group’s existing remuneration
policies and succession plans (e.g. guidelines for determining staff
remuneration packages and relevant market trends and information).

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group
contributes to the PRC social security fund (including pension insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and
work injury insurance) and housing provident fund for its PRC employees.
The Group’s full-time employees in the PRC participate in a number of
government-sponsored defined contribution retirement schemes under
which employees are entitled to a monthly pension calculated according
to certain formulas. The relevant government agencies assume the
responsibility of pension payments to these retired employees. The
Group makes monthly contributions to these pension schemes. Under
these schemes, the Group has no obligation for post-retirement benefits
other than the contributions made. Contributions to these schemes
are expensed as incurred and contributions made to these defined
contribution pension schemes on behalf of an employee cannot be used
to reduce the Group’s future obligations under these defined contribution
pension schemes even if the employee leaves the Group.

In addition, the Company has adopted a share option scheme which
enables the Company to grant options to, among others, any employees

to subscribe for the Shares. Please refer to the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Share Option Scheme” to this annual report.

*  For identification purposes only
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Wu Guoging (5 %)

Ms. Wu Guogqing (R Bl i), aged 49, is our executive Director and the
Chairman of our Board. She joined our Group on 7 January 2014 as a
general manager of Beijing Hongkun, where she was responsible for
the overall management, strategic planning and day-to-day business
operations. She was appointed as the chairman of the board of directors
of Beijing Hongkun on 18 February 2019. Ms. Wu Guoging was appointed
as our Director on 26 March 2019. She was redesignated as our
executive Director on 24 July 2019. Apart from being the chairman of the
board of directors of Beijing Hongkun, Ms. Wu Guoging is also its legal
representative and general manager. Ms. Wu Guoging is responsible for
the overall management and business operations of our Group, including
formulating strategies and operational plans, supervising the working
progress of various departments, and making daily business decisions for
our Group.

Ms. Wu Guoging has more than 20 years of experience in the property
management services industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our Group,
she worked at Beijing Vanke Property Service Company Limited*
(At mRERWERS AR A F]), a company principally engaging in providing
property management, property agency, property pre-delivery and sales
assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage services, from March 2002
to January 2014 with her last position as director (#28%), where her major job
duties included strategic execution, overseeing property management projects
and management of human resources. Before that, Ms. Wu Guoging had had
work experience in the hotel management industry.

Ms. Wu Guoging became the vice president of Hebei Property
Management Institute (Al db & ¥ ¥ B IR 1T 1% € ) in January 2018, the
first member of Law and Policy Working Committee of China Property
Management Institute (FEI# ¥ ERIHEAREBEILEEZE®) in 2019,
CIH CM Chartered Member of CIH Chartered Institute of Housing ( %
BFHERELIEES) in 2020 and the president of Beijing Xihongmen Town
Property Service Institute (b R PEAT FI$EY) 5 AR 7586 B2) in 2020.
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She was awarded “China’s Property Management Innovative Person
in 2017* (2017 B ¥ E E A% 1 A %) in 2017 by China Property
Management Magazine* ({F Bl #) % & 12 Y354t ), “China’s Outstanding
Property Manager in 2018* (2018 FR B{@F ¥ % 4L 32 A)” in 2018 by EH
Consulting (18 # %5 &), “China’s Innovative and Entrepreneurial Leader
In 2019* (2019 A B &l %7 &l % <8 40 A #)” in 2019 by Xiou Net* (% BX
49), “Industry Influential People In 2019* (2019 FETE£EFE A W) in
2019 by The China Finance Summit ( #* B Bf &€ I& € ), “Innovation and
Entrepreneurship Leader of the Year 2019* (2019 4F [& 7 [ Al| 37 A ¥ <8
A )" in 2019 by the 7th China Innovation, Entrepreneurship Leaders
Summit* (F-tETBEEI¥AIXEHHIES), “2020 Top 30 CEOs* (20205 &
CEO 30 58)” in 2020 by Leju* (24/FB14), “innovation of the year™ in 2021
by The Economic Observer (§&E#ZETR), “2021 Top 30 CEOs™ (20214F
JECEO 3038) in 2021 by Leju* (£4/E 81 4), “Outstanding Entrepreneur in
the Property Management Industry in the North China” in 2022 and 2023
by CPMRI* (& #) #ff #3 ), and “Outstanding Entrepreneur in the Property
Management in the China” in 2023 by CPM Think Tank* (FR#7%8 ).

Ms. Wu Guoging graduated from Hainan University (8 AZ) in Hainan
Province, the PRC in December 1995 with her profession in international
trade. She was qualified as a certified property manager (3% & 12 )
by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC in
August 2013.

Mr. Zhao Weihao (H#1E%)

Mr. Zhao Weihao (#f#%) (formerly known as Zhao Liang (i#52)), aged
30, is our executive Director. He joined our Group as a director of Beijing
Hongkun on 6 December 2017, where he is responsible for the overall
management and day-to-day business operations. He was appointed
as our Director on 26 March 2019 and redesignated as our executive
Director on 24 July 2019. Mr. Zhao Weihao is responsible for the overall
development and major business decisions making of our Group.

Mr. Zhao is currently a director of Shenzhen Municipal Coast Xingtai Real
Estate Company Limited* (F I T/ EHERTEEHFR A F), a company
located in the PRC with principal business of real estate development,
provision of real estate brokerage services, and property leasing. During
the period from August 2019 to August 2022, Mr. Zhao was a director
of Beijing Hongkun Weiye Real Estate Development Co. Ltd (“Hongkun
Weiye”), a company located in the PRC with principal business of real
estate development.

Mr. Zhao Weihao graduated from Boston University in Massachusetts, the

United States in September 2016 with a bachelor’s degree in economics
and computer science.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Ms. Li Yin Ping (Z=#:5¥)

Ms. Li Yin Ping ( Z= # 5 ) (also known as Florence Li), aged 47, is our
executive Director. She was appointed as our Director on 26 March 2019
and was redesignated as our executive Director on 24 July 2019. She
was appointed as a director of Beijing Hongkun on 18 February 2019.

Following her appointment as a director of Beijing Hongkun, she has been
actively participating in overseeing our property management services
and business development, including reviewing the workflow, procedures
and delivery of our property management services, and she provides
strategic advice from the managerial perspective. As an executive
Director, Ms. Li Yin Ping also participates in the formulation of business
strategy and major decisions of our Group as well as in the deliberation
and approval of our Group’s administrative expenses, monthly accounts
and budgets, and in the recruitment of senior management.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Li Yin Ping also served as
a director in various private companies in Hong Kong and overseas
which engage in different nature of business as listed below. With her
experience in finance and capital investment, particularly investment in
listed companies, Ms. Li Yin Ping is also involved in strategic planning of
our Group’s fund raising and capital investment activities, and provides
guidance and supervision on financial management and corporate
governance of our Group as well as in overall strategic planning and
business development of new business opportunities. In particular, for
the implementation of our Group’s strategic plan to expand our market
reach in the PRC to cover at least five additional cities by 2021 through
acquisitions of suitable local property management companies, Ms. Li
Yin Ping will also be involved in assessing such opportunities once they
arise and in ensuring potential acquisition targets fit into our Group’s
acquisition criteria as determined by the Board.
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Ms. Li Yin Ping has experiences in finance and capital investments.
She also has previous work experiences in the financial advisory and
insurance industries. Among others, she is holding the following positions
in Hong Kong and overseas:

Place of

Company name incorporation Period of time

NEER SRR L 3t B A

Top Sing International Company Hong Kong October 2013 to present
Limited

hEERER LT BB —E-=F1THES

Mega Marketing & Media Hong Kong May 2015 to present
Company Limited

EEMSRIABEL BB —hFRAZES

Vibes Management Company Hong Kong May 2016 to present
Limited

EHBERBRAF 5 —E-RFELRES

Pioneer Unicorn Limited BVI June 2016 to present

Pioneer Unicorn Limited RBRZES ZE-RFRAES

Winz Strategy Company Limited Hong Kong February 2017 to present

SRR ER LT BB “T—+tF-RES

Winz Strategy BVI April 2017 to present

Bl KBRS —tEFmAES

Ms. Li Yin Ping is currently a member of the Federation of HK Guangxi
Community Organisations, as well as an executive committee member (5
1%48328) of 2019 of The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon.

Ms. Li Yin Ping obtained a master’s degree in business administration

(MBA) from European University Business School in January 2017 through
distance learning.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Ms. Zhang Chunying (iR & %)

Ms. Zhang Chunying (5& & %), aged 42, has been appointed as an
executive Director on 7 July 2021, and serve as the chief financial officer
of the Company. Ms. Zhang has joined the Company since 31 July 2018
and is responsible for financial management work of the Company.

Ms. Zhang has over 12 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Zhang worked in Beijing
Vanke Property Service Company Limited* (1t R &R 2 RIS EBR A 7))
from October 2007 to July 2018, a company which is mainly engaged
in providing property management, property agency, property pre-
delivery and sales assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage
services before handover of properties and sales. Her last position was
the head of financial management department of Tianjin Vanke Property
Service Company Limited (K& & B3 8k 7% B R A 7)), responsible for
comprehensive financial tasks, including budgeting, auditing, capital and
taxation and others.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Agricultural University of Hebei with bachelor’s
degree of Economic and Management Profession in 2008, and graduated
from North Borneo University College in Malaysia, with a master’s
degree in Management in February 2022. She obtained an accounting
qualification certificate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Li Yifan (Z— 1)

Mr. Li Yifan (Z2— ), aged 35, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director on 7 July 2021. Mr. Li has joined Hongkun Jituan since May 2018.
He is the board secretary of Hongkun Jituan and the person in charge
of its strategic and capital operation centre. Prior to joining Hongkun
Group, Mr. Li served as a manager of the board of directors office at
State Development & Investment Corporation (Bl % 5 2% & A &) from
May 2014 to March 2017. From March 2017 to April 2018, Mr. Li was the
senior manager and secretary to the chairman of the board of directors of
Zhengrong Group Ltd. (ER&£EHR A A)).

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in Law from Peking University
in July 2012 and a master’s degree in International Studies from The
University of Sydney in July 2013.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (3R 1)

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (5R{Z%#), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. He is
responsible for providing independent judgment and advice to our Board.
He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung has over 13 years of experience in auditing and
accounting industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Cheung Wai Hung
worked at Aoba CPA Limited from July 2004 to April 2014 with his last
position as audit manager, where he assisted in the audit of various
medium-sized and listed companies. Mr. Cheung has been appointed,
since April 2014, as the chief financial officer serving Wai Chi Holdings
Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1305), where he is responsible for the
financial management. He has become a member of the risk management
committee of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited since August 2015
and has been appointed as the company secretary of Wai Chi Holdings
Company Limited since November 2015. Since August 2018, Mr. Cheung
Wai Hung has been appointed as the independent non-executive director
and a member of the audit committee of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8299).

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in Hong Kong in November 2003 with a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy. He is currently a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a Chartered tax adviser with a membership in
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (B & %)

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Bf & i), aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. He is
responsible for providing independent judgment and advice to our
Board. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat is the founding shareholder and sole director of
C T Tax Consultants Limited since August 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Chan
Cheong Tat had worked in the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong
for over 32 years. He joined the HKSAR Government as assistant assessor
in November 1972 and was promoted to assistant commissioner of the
Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong in September 2003. He retired
from the HKSAR Government in April 2005.

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat obtained a master’s degree in financial
management from Central Queensland University of Australia in October
1995 through distance learning. He was admitted as an associate of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (now known as The
Chartered Governance Institute) in the United Kingdom in March 1974,
a fellow of the Association of Certified Accountants (now known as the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants) in November 1983, a
fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in March 1986, a fellow of
the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (now known as
CPA Australia) in June 1990, and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries (now known as The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute) in August 1994.
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Mr. Chan Cheong Tat has been or was appointed as an independent non- PREFELEDKKEERZERTIEELT
executive director of the following listed companies in Hong Kong: NABEIIEMITES -
Company name Place of listing and stock code Period of time
ARHRE L B R BRAD KSR RFHA
Medicskin Holdings Limited GEM of the Stock Exchange December 2014 to present
(stock code: 8307)
ZmHT B R Bt 22 PRGEM (AR 5% - 8307) —E-WFE+ZAES
Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited GEM of the Stock Exchange June 2018 to present
(stock code: 8512)
JEEEEZERERAT Bt 22 PRGEM (IR 55 - 8512) —E-\FERAES
Chong Fai Jewellery Group Holdings GEM of the Stock Exchange September 2018 to present
Company Limited (stock code: 8537)
EIBRE R EIERERA Bt 22 PRGEM (IR 155 - 8537) —E-NFAAES
Accel Group Holdings Limited Main Board of the Stock Exchange September 2019 to present
(stock code: 1283)
SR EEERERA B 32 P E MR (AR5 - 1283) —ZE-NFAAES
Wasion Holdings Limited Main Board of the Stock Exchange May 2014 to May 2015; June 2020 to
(stock code: 3393) present
B EAR A PR A A B 2P E MR (AR5 - 3393) ZE-NFRAET-AFHA:

—ZE-TFRAES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Ms. Chen Weijie (BR4E5E)

Ms. Chen Weijie (Ff #5%), aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. She is responsible for
providing independent judgment and advice to our Board. She is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Chen Weijie has over 12 years of experience in executive
management, investment and corporate finance. Since July 2020, Ms.
Chen Weijie has been appointed as the chief executive officer and
responsible officer in Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities of Vision Finance (Securities) Limited, a company principally
engaging in provision of financial services, where she is responsible for
the overall business development and provision of financial advice to
listed companies. Before joining Vision Finance (Securities) Limited, from
March 2018 to December 2019, Ms. Chen Weijie has been appointed
as the executive director and responsible officer in Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities of ZhongHua Finance Capital
Company Limited, a company principally engaging in provision of
financial services, where she is responsible for the overall business
development and provision of financial advice to listed companies. Ms.
Chen Weijie had also worked as senior management for several financial
and securities companies including Legend Strategy International
Holdings Group Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1355) from November
2016 to February 2018, Vision Finance (Securities) Limited from May
2013 to October 2016, China Private Equity Investment Holdings Limited
between December 2010 and April 2013, China Fortune Group Limited
(currently known as Go Fintech Innovation Limited), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 290)
from August 2009 to November 2010, and China Aircraft Leasing Group
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1848) from August 2008 to August 2009. Ms.
Chen Weijie served as an executive director of Finet Group Limited, the
shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8317) from October 2021 to August 2023, and served as an independent
non-executive director of Chong Kin Group Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, and was delisted on 28 March 2024, stock
code: 1609) from June 2021 to March 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Ms. Chen Weijie also has some relevant experience in the legal sector.
Prior to joining our Group, she worked as an intern at the Intermediate
People’s Court of Guangzhou, the PRC, from December 2003 to July
2004, and as a paralegal in the corporate finance department at Norton
Rose Hong Kong (currently known as Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong)
from July 2006 to June 2008. She was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in
2009.

Ms. Chen Weijie graduated from Guangdong University of Finance &
Economics (previously known as Guangdong Business School* (& 3 i
E01)) in Guangdong, the PRC in June 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in
law. She also obtained a master of laws in international business law from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2005. She has been holding a
Type 6 licence (advising on corporate finance) granted by the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute since July 2013.

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (£ X))

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (X #), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 7 July 2021. He is responsible for providing
independent judgment and advice to our Board. He is a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director, the
chairman and a member of the audit committee and a member of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of Tongguan
Gold Group Limited (formerly known as China Mining Resources Group
Limited) (stock code: 0340), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung is currently a director and the chief financial
officer of China TX [IOT Group (Hong Kong) Limited.

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from
Seattle University. Mr. Leung is a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, certified public
accountant of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
certified public accountant in the State of California in the United States of
America.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Shuai Chuanyong (BN & 5)

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong (B & B ), aged 55, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of Beijing Hongkun on 17 October 2017. He is
responsible for the project management of our managed properties
in Tianjin, Hebei Province and Hainan Province in the PRC, as well as
business development, quality control oversight and human resources
management of Beijing Hongkun. He is also the executive director
of Tianjin Hongsheng and Xianghe HongKun Property Management
Company Limited (BRI ZEE R HRRAA).

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong has over 9 years of experience in the property
management industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our Group, he worked
at Beijing Hengfu Property Service Company Limited Tianjin Branch* (1t
FIEEWERBER AR KRESAA), a company principally engaging
in provision of property management and real estate brokerage
services, from 1 September 2011 to 15 October 2017 with his last
position as deputy general manager, where he was responsible for
general management. Before that, Mr. Shuai Chuanyong had had work
experiences in the property management, manufacturing and decoration
industries.

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong graduated from Jiangxi Institute of Economic
Administrators* (T 78487 & 2 #3828t ) in Jiangxi Province, the PRC in
July 1993 with his profession in business management.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENREREEE(E)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Ms. Cao Lixin (& 3 %)

Ms. Cao Lixin ( & 3Z #7 ), aged 38, was appointed as the assistant general
manager of Beijing Hongkun on 7 January 2018. She joined our Group on 4
September 2015 as the director (4 &5) of Beijing Hongkun’s management
projects in Beijing. She is responsible for project management of our
managed properties in Beijing, Hebei Province and Hubei Province, the
PRC, and customer services oversight.

Prior to joining our Group, she worked at Beijing Vanke Property Service
Company Limited* (3t R &R ZE AR % AR 2 7l), a company principally
engaging in providing property management, property agency, property
pre-delivery and sales assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage
services, from March 2004 to September 2015 with her last position as
department manager, where she was responsible for project planning
and management.

Ms. Cao Lixin graduated from The Open University of China (R E
& & 2 K 2) in Beijing, the PRC in January 2005 with her profession in
horticulture through distance learning. She also graduated from China
Agricultural University (R B2 % K 2) in Beijing, the PRC in July 2007 with
her profession in landscape architecture through an online course.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Mr. Wang Xiaorong (£ %)

Mr. Wang Xiaorong (£ £ %), aged 42, was appointed as the director (42
£2) of Beijing Hongkun’s properties in Tianjin on 12 June 2018. He joined
our Group as a manager and was responsible for project management on
1 August 2016. He is responsible for the general project management of
our managed properties in Tianjin and Xianghe, Hebei Province, the PRC.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang Xiaorong worked at Beijing Vanke
Property Management Company Limited* (It RERERBSBRAR]), a
company principally engaging in providing property management,
property agency, property pre-delivery and sales assistance, consulting
and real estate brokerage services, from March 2005 to August 2016 with
his last position as business support system manager, where he was
responsible for maintenance of the business support system and property
environment management.

Mr. Wang Xiaorong graduated from China Agricultural University
(7R B & % KX E) in Beijing, the PRC in January 2016 with his profession
in horticulture through an online course. He passed the property
management examination approved by Beijing Municipal Commission of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development* (it R E M EREZ EE)
of the PRC in April 2015.

*  For identification purposes only
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Project Overview
HEBE

HONGKUN PROPERTY PROJECT INFORMATION S ¥ ¥EHB F R

1. BEWING WOOD AND LIFE VILLA
b eREEEE

As the high-end residential representative of Hongkun Group, Beijing Wood and Life Villa provides scarce, high
comfort and healthy high-tech luxury homes in the city’s core for customers pursuing high quality of life. Based on the
Elysée Palace in France, the Pure Villa Community comprising of 276 town houses and stacked villas, with a plot ratio
of 1.02, is located on Xinwang South Street in Daxing, Beijing.

IR MABEERBHEEBFRA TR EEAER - REREREEENES  RBHEMZOBR - SETEE - RFEN
BRXRE - WEAEEBEEREAR @ 276EM MBI R EEKMAREHE - REXR1.02 - BERURIERH AR
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEME(E)

HONGKUN FLOWER AND LIFE VILLA
HRiHeTEE

Located in the hinterland of Beijing CBD, Hongkun Flower and Life Villa is the only low-density villa in the CBD, with
shopping, entertainment, star hotel, leisure and fitness, education and medical care, and service facilities all around
the project. The south side of the project is the southeast irrigation canal, and the north side is the 8,000 square
meters urban garden (pending building) planned by the government, with a total construction land area of 27,000
sq. m. and a GFA of approximately 65,000 sqg. m., a total of 9 buildings comprising of 270 households, with a plot ratio
of only 1.6, a greening coverage rate of 60%, and a utilization rate of 86%-89%.
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEME(E)

3. HAINAN HONGKUN LANDSCAPE VILLA
AR e LSS

As the first resort community in Hainan with Zen culture as the theme, Hainan Hongkun Landscape Villa brings a
unique holiday life to the people in pursuit of spiritual relaxation, leisure and health. By virtue of the natural landscape
of mountains and lush greenery, through incorporating the view of the mountain into the park, Hainan Hongkun
Landscape Villa is the new trend of Sanya, a “second home”.
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEME(E)

HONGKUN IDEAL CITY
R 3 e 1215 I

Located in the heart of the new city of Daxing District, Beijing, Hongkun Ideal City project is a model of Hongkun
Real Estate’s high-level low-density product series. With an area of 130,800 sg. m. and a 100% occupancy rate,
the development, which was ready for check-in November 2010, not only enjoys 35,000 sqg. m. of quality education
resources, but is also located by IKEA’s Asian flagship store; has an Art Deco’s classic architectural style and is
inspired by the French Art Deco architecture, and integrates the new decoration style, urban impression concept and
free fashion culture into one through the refined and perfect treatment of facades and decorative components, giving
the urban revival temperament; has the units ranging from 90 to 180 sg. m., showing people a rich and varied lifestyle.
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Project Overview (Continued)

HEME(E)

5. HONGKUN PLAZA SHOPPING CENTRE
R 3 E IS R ) O

As the first commercial project launched by Hongkun Real Estate Group to serve community residents, Hongkun
Plaza Shopping Centre is a comprehensive community commercial project integrating retail, restaurant, children,
entertainment, fitness, cinema, co-working and other business modes. The project is dedicated to creating a creative
community sharing centre in the southwest Beijing.
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Project Overview (Continued)

HEHBE(E)

HONGKUN VALUE TOWN INDUSTRIAL PARK
BifeEHAEXE

Hongkun Value Town Industrial Park is a new landmark of industrial development in the capital city that brings
together modern service industries such as finance, culture and creativity, internet and new industries with innovation.
It has 12 eco-intelligent innovations and “three-star” green building standards, and leads the way to become one of
the few national “dual-ecology” intelligent business parks that combines landscape and industrial ecology in Beijing.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance.

The Board believes that high standards of corporate governance are
key to the Group’s ability to protect Shareholders’ interests, enhance
corporate value, develop business strategies and policies, and improve
transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as the basis for the Company’s corporate
governance practices. The Company has also established a corporate
governance framework and has developed a set of policies and
procedures in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code. These
policies and procedures provide the basis for strengthening the Board’s
ability to exercise governance and provide appropriate oversight of the
business conduct and affairs of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out the Corporate Governance Code,
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board of directors and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

Ms. Wu Guoging is the general manager of Beijing Hongkun and is
involved in the day-to-day management of our business. Although she
does not hold the title of chief executive officer, she can be regarded as
the de facto chief executive officer of the Group (the “Chief Executive
Officer”). She is also the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”).
Ms. Wu has been responsible for the overall management, strategic
planning and day-to-day business operations of the Group. The Board
believes that at this stage of the Group’s development, having the roles
of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in the same person
brings strong and consistent leadership to the Company for effective
and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and
strategies. Accordingly, the Directors consider it is appropriate and
reasonable to deviate from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. However, it is the Company’s long term objective to
have different individuals in the two roles when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Group will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance

practices in order to ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is composed of 44.4%
independent non-executive Directors, representing a strong independent
element. Independent views and inputs are always available to the Board
no matter through formal or informal channels. The Chairman promotes a
culture of openness and constructive relations between independent non-
executive Directors and other Directors to facilitate effective contribution
of independent non-executive Directors for independent views and
inputs. Independent professional advice is sought when necessary or as
required by Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
composition and is satisfied with the independence of the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. The Company
has made specific enquiries to all Directors and all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Culture

Through upholding our service philosophy of “creating an enjoyable living
environment (i AffS{E/8F:0))” and our dedication to our core values of
“friendliness, persistence, innovation and excellence” in delivering our
services, we envision to become an outstanding property management
service provider in the PRC. We strive to provide more than just property
management services to property owners and residents. We offer a vast
range of value-added services and organize a variety of activities in our
managed properties. We take pride in creating a cozy and enjoyable
living environment in the residential properties we manage and provide
property owners and residents with a close-knit community with easy
access to diversified services that meet their day-to-day needs.

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEER®E (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Guoging (the Chairman), Ms.
Li Yin Ping and Ms. Zhang Chunying, one non-executive Director, named
Mr. Li Yifan, and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Cheong Tat, Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung
Ka Wo.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to 47 of this
annual report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other
Directors or chief executive.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited
to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. Notices of not less
than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying meeting papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records
(Continued)

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also holds meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors each year.

During the Reporting Period, 4 Board meetings were held, and 3 general
meetings were convened. The attendance of each Director at these
meetings is set out in the table below:
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Board Meetings
Attended/Eligible

General Meetings
Attended/Eligible

to Attend to Attend
CHEEEEeE SHERRAE
Director o= EHERE EHERE
Mr. Zhao Weihao HERLEE 4/4 3/3
Ms. Wu Guoging REELZ L 4/4 3/3
Ms. Li Yin Ping FHROFL L 4/4 3/3
Ms. Zhang Chunyin RERZ L 4/4 3/3
Mr. Li Yifan k& 4/4 3/3
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLLE 4/4 3/3
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung SRIBHESAE 4/4 3/3
Ms. Chen Weijie BR4EEL L 4/4 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Wo REMFEE 4/4 3/3
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FFERATIABE

The position of Chairman is held by Ms. Wu Guoging and she provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The Company does not at present have any officer with
the title “chief executive officer”. However, being the general manager
of Beijing Hongkun and involved in the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business, Ms. Wu Guoging may be regarded as our de-
facto Chief Executive Officer though she does not carry such title. She is
responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and day-to-
day business operations of our Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements
set out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific
term of one year commencing from their respective date of appointment,

subject to renewal after the expiry of their current term.

The specific terms of service of each non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) are as follows:
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Term of Service

BRISHAPR

Name of Director

EEHA

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Li Yifan

From 7 July 2021 and subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years. A retiring Director shall be e||g|ble for re-election.

F—NkALE
ERREE

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat

B=%F=— itﬂtlﬂi ZLB=FHERT R - IGRENEEE

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

re-election.

REZEELE

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

BERWEE -

BE-Z_ZF_A+tRE EOE=FHERE K- IHBRENES

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

BE_Z_ZF_A+tRE =2OE=FHERE K- IHBRENES

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

BE_Z_ZF_A+tBE =LE=FHERE K- IHBRENES

From 7 July 2021 and subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years. A retiring Director shall be ellglble for re-election.

re-election.
SRIBTESE A

BERBEEE o
Mr. Chen Weijie

re-election.
BR#EE LT

BEREEE o
Mr. Leung Ka Wo
REMEE

B SR -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors (Continued)

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for
the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Articles of Association also
provide that any Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director shall be subject to election by Shareholders at the first
annual general meeting after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. The
independent non-executive Directors will also be able to provide an
impartial, external opinion to the Board so as to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and opinions that it requires when exercising
its powers and making major decisions and to protect the interests of
our Shareholders. During the Reporting Period, the 4 independent non-
executive Directors attended Board meetings regularly and actively
participated in the decision-making process of the Board, and provided
independent views and opinions to the Board when it performed its
duties. In view of the above, and after review, the Board believes
that its mechanism for obtaining independent opinions has been fully
implemented and continues to be effective.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continued)

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant
sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading material
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have received trainings
regarding their duties and responsibilities as Directors, corporate
governance and regulatory updates and the Directors have been
provided with relevant reading materials including compliance manual/
legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts for their reference and
studying.

TEER®E (&)

ExE(@)

S=eEEBNRE REME
BACE)

RBEHR - TEESHERESIERES
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The individual training record of each Director during the Reporting BN EZRREEAREAIZ 88 At a0
Period is summarized below: T

Attending relevant Reading relevant
trainings regarding materials including
Directors’ duties and compliance manual/
responsibilities, legal and
corporate governance regulatory updates/
and regulatory updates seminar handouts
SHRERESRE FEEEM R B
REF - 2¥EER BRFM CERER
Name of Director EEpnE SEIR TR AR B B B M EES
Mr. Zhao Weihao HERLEE 4 v
Ms. Wu Guoging REELZ L v v
Ms. Li Yin Ping FEEL LT v v
Ms. Zhang Chunyin RER LA v v
Mr. Li Yifan k& v/ v
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLLE 4 v/
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung SRIBHESEAE v v
Ms. Chen Weijie PRAEE 20+ v/ v
Mr. Leung Ka Wo REMFEE v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees are established with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website
and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Wai
Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka Wo. Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, oversee our audit process and perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings and
the attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the table
below:

EEZET

EEgERU=—AZEg AEZXZEE -
FHMEEGRIREEES  UEEARAE
BEORESTH - FEEEZBREKIEY
REAREARBESRE  BEINPARSHRE
REBE  BXRZES  FHZESRIES
ZESNBEEE T BN AR B KR
PrABUL - WX ARRESREF AR ER] o

==

BEZEREE

BEREZBemUBBIIFNITESMAR - A
REZESLLE(EF)  REHELE  RETBL
ITRRERMESE - BERZEEEFREEL
B ETMARRIE310KFIRENES SR
KB - Bt RARMHEREERAH -

ARRIEET ETRAEINMGRERER
TRRIEZZES - ERZEENTIER
BEREHLEBEAEENMERE RS - A
REERABES RS - EERMANEZRE
FRETESSREEMNEMBE -

]

Wk
%% 8

BgBTT3RgE &

BRI TR -

B 3t
W ofF

N BEZE

Attended/Eligible to attend

Director = BHiE EBHE
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Chairman) FREESLE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEMRE 3/3
Ms. Chen Weijie BR#EEZ L 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RRMEE 3/3
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (Continued)
During the meetings, the Audit Committee:

° reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 as well as the relevant financial
reports;

° reviewed the audit report prepared by the auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; and

° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
risk management and internal control systems (including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function), risk management systems and
processes and the re-appointment of the auditor.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Reporting Period.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chen Weijie (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Wai Hung,
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat and Mr. Leung Ka Wo.

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee
are to establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration
for the Directors and senior management, make recommendations
on employee benefit arrangement and review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)
During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting

and the attendance of each Remuneration Committee member is set out
in the table below:

CHFNEREERITTIREH
PREMHEEBERIMTRAR :

Attended/Eligible to attend

Director = BHiE EBHE
Ms. Chen Weijie (Chairman) PR S (EE) 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEHE A 1/1
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLE 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RRMEE 1/1
During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee considered and Re@bE - FNZEesa B THT

reviewed, and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
assessed the performance of executive Directors, and reviewed and
approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

The remuneration payable to Directors and senior management of the
Company is determined with reference to capabilities, experiences, duties
and responsibilities, and the remuneration benchmarks normally paid
by other companies in the industry for ensuring a fair and competitive
remuneration package in the market.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management
by band are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
and the details of the remuneration of senior management by
remuneration band are set out below:

EENHMEENFHIR  YAESSER
HTESE BERTESNRARELH
TTERNRBEE RER

XNTFTEZERARRSREEBNFHHN2
ZREMES K8 BE - URTEHM
RA—RINOFHELEMETE - ARBRE
MErBET S LBATFRABHRES -

ﬁ%ﬁi%&%ﬁ&afi%ﬁw?” YRS
R GAMERERMTEI0 MakEBEs
Bz g E & H BT

Number of individuals

Remuneration Band s E A"
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0Z 1,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1
Nomination Committee RREEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four independent non-executive RELZECHNBBLIENTESHEK - B
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (Chairman), Mr. Chan Cheong REBHERE(ERF)  REZELE  BRESTK
Tat, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka Wo. T RBRFEAE -
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on the
appointment and removal of our Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”). The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving and maintaining diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the director nomination policy of the Company (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) that are necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
and the attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set out in
the table below:
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Attended/Eligible to attend

Director = EHE EHE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (Chairman) REWHSTE(EE) 1/1
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLE 1/1
Ms. Chen Weijie BR#EEZ L 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RRMEE 1/1

During the meeting, the Nomination Committee:
° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

° assessed the independence of the independent non-executive

Directors;
° reviewed the Director Nomination Policy;
° reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and
° considered the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for

re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity Policy

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain diversity on our Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of our Board. The Board Diversity Policy
provides that our Company should endeavour to ensure that our Board
members have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the execution of our
business strategies. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service. Our Nomination Committee is delegated by our Board to be
responsible for the compliance with relevant code provisions governing
board diversity under the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination
Committee reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy at least annually to ensure it continues to be effective
and appropriate for the Company and is in compliance with regulatory
requirements and good corporate governance practices. We will disclose
in our corporate governance report about the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

Our Board comprises nine members, including four executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and four independent non-executive Directors.
Our Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including overall
management and strategic development, business and risk management,
and finance and accounting experiences. Our Board members have a
wide range of age, ranging from 30 to 74 years old. Furthermore, more
than one-third of our Board members are female. The Company targets to
have at least one-third of female representation on the Board, so we have
achieved our goal of gender diversity. After due consideration, our Board
believes that based on the meritocracy of our Directors, the composition
of our Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity Policy (Continued)
During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has reviewed

the following measurable objectives and the progress towards these
objectives:
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Measurable objectives
AFtERR

Progress

The Board has at least one-third of female
representation

EFeE=VA=NZREMERR

Consider the appointment of new Director(s)
from a wide range of candidates (including
backgrounds, skills, experience and perspectives
that would complement the existing Board) and
prioritize enhancement of gender diversity
HEZAL(BERESR it ERRESTER
NEFEHFENBRZ)PERLZERFEERIAE
MEFSURNZ T REP—EELEES
Review annually on the composition and structure
of the Board as well as Board diversity

BEAREFTSEMAERE  UREFSZ L
B

Establish a pipeline of potential Director
successors to achieve gender diversity

B — AR LAERIMRIZ T B EE S EEA
BB

As of 31 December 2023, the Board has four female Directors,
the objective has been achieved.
BE_Z-_=F+_A=+—H EFgHANEMEE B
BREER -

Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company will continue to look for diverse and suitable
candidates for recommendation and appointment as
Director(s).

RBE-Z_=F+_HA=1+—HILFEEEX - ARAKHHE
mesal  SEAERNEBZERES -

Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
evaluation process includes an assessment of Board diversity
and objective consideration of the Board’s composition and
performance.
REE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFEEEX - iTZBRE
EEE LR - BB ERESSHEMRMERL -
Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Board will seize the opportunity to increase the proportion of
female members over time when selecting suitable Director
candidates and making recommendations accordingly. The
Company will also continue to promote gender diversity when
recruiting mid-level and senior employees, and reserve a
group of female executives and potential Director successors
for the future.
REE_T_=F+_A=+—HILFEEEX - EEESED
BERREATHIUREERESRN  EFSIEERSZESEMNL
MR BELLAI - AR R MKEB T RERSHRE TRERIERZ
TE  RARREE B LETRABREEEFEEIA -

There are no mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had 846 employees, of which 365 were female, accounting for about
43.1% of all employees; the Group had 3 senior management, of which
1 was female, accounting for 33.3% of all senior management. The
details of gender diversity of all employees of the Group are contained in
the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report independently
released by the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted the Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity
of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Skills, experience and professional expertise — the candidate
should possess the skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and
professional expertise which are relevant to the operation of the
Group.

° Diversity — the candidate should be considered with due regard to
the diversity perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy.

° Commitment — the candidate should be able to devote sufficient
time to attend the Board meetings and participate in induction
training and other relevant activities.

° Standing - the candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with the relevant position as a Director.

° Independence — the candidate to be nominated as an independent
non-executive Director must satisfy the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at

general meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance with the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
(including environment, social and governance risk) and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines in relation to, among others, corporate
governance, risk evaluation and management, anti-corruption, disclosure
of information, confidentiality and financial reporting in order to achieve
effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and various
aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied with by
each department.
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TEER®E (&)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans, and monitors the
risk management progress, and reports to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

In accordance with applicable laws and regulations, the Company has
followed internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is released
to the public in a fair and timely manner. The senior management of
the Group’s financial control functions are delegated the responsibility
to monitor and oversee compliance with appropriate procedures in
the disclosure of inside information. Only relevant senior management
is entitled to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis at all times.
Relevant personnel and other relevant professionals are required to
maintain the confidentiality of such inside information before it is publicly
disclosed. Other relevant procedures, such as pre-approval of trading
in the Company’s securities by Directors and designated members of
management and notification to Directors and employees of regular
blackout periods and restrictions on trading in securities, has been also
implemented to prevent possible improper handling of inside information
within the Group.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board would review the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year. The Board, as supported by the
Audit Committee as well as the management report and the internal audit
findings, reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and considered that such systems are
effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for
performing independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provides its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2028.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 100 to 109 of this annual report.

Where appropriate, a statement will be provided by the Audit Committee
explaining its recommendation regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditor and the reasons why the Board
has taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”), in respect of audit services
and non-audit services during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set
out below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Sau Mei (fh75%%), the director of the listing services department
of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial services provider),
serves as the company secretary of the Company. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Ms. Wu Guoging, the executive Director.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and Board practices and matters.
Ms. Wu Guoging, the executive Director, would work and communicate
with Ms. Ng on the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and
administrative matters.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Ng has undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various communication
channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting/Right to
Call an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene an extraordinary
general meeting according to the provision as set out in the Articles of
Association and the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. A copy of the
Articles of Association can be found on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The procedures for Shareholders to nominate
a person for election as a Director is available on the Company’s website
with title “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director of the Company”.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting forward
proposals by the Shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Company
may from time to time at general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director for
election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she can deposit a written
notice to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the Board and the company secretary. The period for
lodgement of such written notice shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

In order for the Company to inform Shareholders of that proposal, the
written notice must state the full name of the person proposed for election
as a Director, including the person’s biographical details as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder
concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

In order to allow the Shareholders to have sufficient time to receive and
consider the proposal of election of the proposed person as a Director,
Shareholders are encouraged to submit and lodge the written notice as
early as practicable.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written requests to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: Company’s principal place of business in the PRC
Room 108, No. 45 Xinrong North Street, Xihongmen,
Daxing District, Beijing, PRC
(For the attention of the Board/Company Secretary)
Email: zhangchunying@hongkun.com.cn
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s website (www.hongkunwuye.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the Shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to inform
Shareholders and investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

Changes in Constitutional Documents

In preparation for the Listing, the Company has adopted the amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association pursuant to a
special resolution passed by the Shareholders on 22 February 2019. A
special resolution was passed at the annual general meeting held on
31 May 2023 by the Company for the adoption of the second amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
(the “Amended M&A”). Save as disclosed above, there was no other
change in constitutional documents of the Company during the year. The
Amended M&A is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Policies Relating to Shareholders
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has formulated a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. During the year, the
Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’” Communication Policy and confirmed that it has been
effectively implemented.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not assure that dividends will be paid in the future or as
to the timing of any dividends that may be paid in the future. The payment
and amounts of dividends, if paid, depend on the Company’s results
of operations, cash flows, financial position, statutory and regulatory
restrictions on the dividends paid by us, future prospects and other
factors which the Company considers relevant.
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Report of the Directors

The Board herein present its report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 110 of this annual report.

No dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 31
December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a discussion on
the prospect of the Group’s future business development, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 12 to 14 and the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 15 to 34 of this annual
report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 12 to 14, Financial Highlights on pages 5 to 6 and Five-Year
Financial Summary on page 192 of this annual report.
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ESEHRE(A)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing by
the Group. It is non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the principal risk areas outlined below. Besides,
this report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice for anyone
to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Government Policy Risk

The PRC government has implemented various measures to tighten the
sales and capital raising/debt issuance activities of property developers in
the PRC, which may have a negative impact on their financial position and
business operations. There is no assurance that the PRC government will
not introduce additional or other types of restrictive policies, regulations
or measures in the future that may affect the property development
market. The failure of the Parent Group to comply with such new policies,
regulations or measures may adversely affect its business, results of
operations and financial condition. As a result, the Group may not always
be able to obtain new property management engagements as planned or
on favorable terms, nor is it certain that any new property management
engagements will be obtained, which may have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, growth prospects, results of operations and
financial position.

The Group will keep abreast of the latest regulatory changes in the
real estate development industry (through government websites and
participation in relevant industry seminars) and will communicate with the
Parent Group. The project development plan will be modified accordingly
to respond to new or changed regulations.

The Company will continue to adopt the strategy of expanding its property
management portfolio and focus its marketing strategy on expanding the
Group’s geographical footprint and operations to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream. By adopting this strategy, the Group can ensure stable
property management revenues, thereby minimizing the impact of the
Parent Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Risk of Economic Volatility

Any downturn in the local and global economy or any adverse change in
market conditions will reduce overall business and consumer confidence.
This will adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition,
operations or growth prospects. In particular, the economic instability and
volatile political environment in China caused by the China-United States
trade war and the novel coronavirus may reduce consumers’ spending
power, which in turn may lead to a decline in property sales and affect
revenue from property management services. As a result, the Company’s
growth and profitability may be adversely affected.

The Company will continue to adopt the strategy of expanding its property
management portfolio and focus its marketing strategy on expanding the
Group’s geographical footprint and operations to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream. By adopting this strategy, the Group can ensure stable
property management revenues, thereby minimizing the impact of market
downturns. In particular, the Company has developed a development
plan, which was reviewed and approved by authorized management.
The program focuses on sending a dedicated team to participate in
tenders held by various property developers, and the Company’s sales
and marketing teams oversee and track the program on a monthly
basis. In addition, the Group has maintained an acceptable level of
liquidity to mitigate the risks associated with cyclical downturns due to
rapid changes in market conditions. Management reviews the cash flow
statement and cash flow forecasts on a monthly basis to mitigate the risk
of a cyclical downturn due to rapid changes in market conditions.
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ESEHRE(A)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Third Party Risk

The Group relies on subcontractors to provide certain property
management services to its customers and the Group may be liable
for disputes and claims arising out of or in connection with the services
provided by the subcontractors.

For subcontractor projects where the contract amount exceeds a certain
amount, the Group centralizes the tendering process. In selecting
subcontractors, the Company will consider not only the subcontractors’
quotes, but also their past performance, if any, to ensure that the
appointed subcontractor can provide a reasonable quality of work.
In addition, the terms of the contract provide for the protection of the
Company from substandard work quality and delayed completion. All
contracts are reviewed to ensure that the terms and conditions are fair
to the Company. Finally, the Company conducts regular performance
evaluations of subcontractors (e.g., their expertise and suitability).
If the subcontractor’s performance evaluation is unacceptable, the
subcontractor’s bid will be suspended.

Industry Competition Risk

Competition in the property management industry in China is fierce and
there are many competitors. Competition in the industry may become
more intense if new competitors entering the market continue to increase,
or if the Group’s competitors increase the diversity of products they offer
to capture emerging opportunities. The Group’s competitors may have
competitive advantages over the Group, such as a longer operating
history, stronger business relationships with customers, suppliers and
subcontractors, stronger financial, technical and other resources and a
broader geographic footprint in China.

The Group has established a precise positioning: according to the
customer research report, it has set a reasonable definition of the property
management project’s business model, price, cost, removal rate and
rhythm, and has set up countermeasures in advance to sort out the full
project cycle risks. At the same time, the Group strategically conspires
with regional companies to adopt differentiated competitive strategies to
avoid or reduce competition.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured
to strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection.

The Company recognizes the importance of environmental protection. The
Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly energy environment
for our staff and has developed energy conservation and carbon
reduction policy so as to minimize negative environmental impacts.

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report for 2023 will
be published at the same time as the publication of this annual report on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in compliance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, save as otherwise disclosed in this annual
report, and as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by our Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers and other
persons (together “Stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable and
stable development. We are committed to maintaining a good relationship
with our Stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing development.

The Group regards our staff as the most valuable assets of the Company.
The Group provides a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals
with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers
a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group also
provides our staff with different trainings, including on-the-job training
and training courses provided by professional organisations in order to
enhance our staffs’ career progression.

The Group believes that our suppliers (including subcontractors)
are equally important in building high-quality property projects. We
proactively communicate with our suppliers to ensure they are committed
to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for each
of the last five financial years is set out in the Five-Year Financial Summary
on page 192 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the Reporting Period.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 112 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, details of the reserves available for distribution
of the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 5.0% of the total sales of the Group for the year,
the sales from the largest customer, Hongkun Group, accounted for less
than 3.0% of the total sales of the Group for the year. Purchases from the
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 48.0% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year, the purchase from the largest supplier accounted
for less than 30.0% of the Group’s total purchase for the year. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, except for Hongkun Group, all of the
five largest customers are independent third parties, and none of the
Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owned 5% or more of the Company’s share capital) had
any interest in any of the five largest customers during the Reporting
Period. The Group did not have any major customers who were also the
suppliers. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, all of the five largest
suppliers are independent third parties, and none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholder (who, to the knowledge of Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
any of the five largest suppliers during the Reporting Period.

BANK BORROWING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no outstanding bank borrowing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 54 to
74 of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on 31 May 2024, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday, 31
May 2024, both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024, being the last share
registration date.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhao Weihao

Ms. Wu Guoqging (Chairman)
Ms. Li Yin Ping

Ms. Zhang Chunying

Non-executive Director

Mr. Li Yifan
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Chen Weijie

Mr. Leung Ka Wo

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors, and considers them to be still
independent as at the date of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.

In addition, in accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Zhang Chunying, Mr. Li Yifan and Mr. Leung Ka Wo shall
retire by rotation at the AGM and they being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular which will be despatched to the Shareholders in due course.
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Ms. Chen Weijie, an independent non-executive Director, resigned as an
executive director of Finet Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8317) on 24 August 2023, and resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Chong Kin Group Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and was delisted on 28 March
2024, stock code: 1609) on 28 March 2024.

Save as disclosed in the annual report, the Directors confirm that no other
information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the existing Directors are set out on pages 35 to
44 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprise wide
risk is a priority of the Company. The Company believes that corporate
governance and directors and officers liability insurance (the “D&O
Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has arranged
appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and senior management
arising out from corporate activities. The D&O Insurance will be reviewed
and renewed annually.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company. The terms and conditions of each of such service contracts
are similar in all material respects. The service contracts are initially for a
fixed term of three years commencing from their respective appointment
dates and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice
shall not expire until after initial fixed term.

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from his
appointment date and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other,
which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from their respective appointment dates, which may be terminated by not
less than 7 days’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, no other Director have entered into service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company which is not
determined by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance,
to which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
Reporting Period.

There are no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance for the
provision of services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their
respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
Director.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to protect
the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against the Directors.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in our Company

ESeRE (&

EEREBRTHRAESRKRS - HE
RO REEETHEENERZRAR

RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H EFKEAR
A EETHABRAR R SE SRR EE
(EERBHLAEEBIEXVED) B - 48
B R EEE T A RIEE S LR RD
FEXVEPET KR8 BRI E AR A KA FTEY
EEIAR (BREEREESRAEERNZ
ZEGXREFR A RN R IAR) -
HARIERE 75 S G 5] B 352{6 /A RE SN 7L 15
FrEM B RMANEREIORR - JARBRE
SRISAMGARR R AHERIAR
me

INZN/NCIIEOE T 35

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held (L)’ shareholding
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Mr. Zhao Weihao Interest held jointly with another person; 237,780,000 58.67%

interest in a controlled corporation™ee2
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Ms. Li Yin Ping Interest in a controlled corporation™et3 44,370,000 10.95%
FFHL L+ Sk B e
Notes: Hraz
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in our Shares. e FRILIERARBIRDITR

2. Ascendor Futur Holding Limited (“Ascendor Futur”) directly holds
237,780,000 Shares. Ascendor Futur is wholly and beneficially owned by
Will Full Holdings Limited (“Will Full”), which is in turn beneficially owned
by Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as to 98.62%, 1.00%
and 0.38%, respectively. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao
Bin together indirectly control all Shares held by Ascendor Futur. Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin are parties acting in concert
pursuant to the Deed of Acting in Concert. By virtue of the SFO, each of
Will Full, Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ascendor Futur is
interested.

3. Winz Strategy Company Limited (“Winz Strategy”) directly holds 44,370,000
Shares. Winz Strategy is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Li Yin Ping.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Li Yin Ping is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Winz Strategy is interested.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Interests in associated corporation of our Company
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Name of associated Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest shares held (L)"°®’ shareholding
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Mr. Zhao Weihao Ascendor Futur Interest held jointly with 1 100%

another person; interest in
a controlled
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in the shares.

2. Ascendor Futur is wholly and beneficially owned by Will Full, which is in turn
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as
to 98.62%, 1.00% and 0.38%, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the register
which were required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
had been granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, or had exercised any
such right during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 23 July 2019,
Beijing Herun entered into a deed of non-competition with the Company
(the “Deed”).

In compliance with the Deed, Beijing Herun has made an annual
declaration on their compliance with the non-competition undertaking.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any
other matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in the Deed
that are required to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business in which the
Group is engaged in.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors is based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the Company’s
affairs and the performance of each Director, together with reference to
the profitability of the Company, remuneration benchmarks in the industry,
and prevailing market conditions. To enable the Remuneration Committee
to give better advice on the Group’s future remuneration policy and
related strategies, the Remuneration Committee has been advised of
the Group’s existing remuneration policy and succession plan, such as
guidelines on designing employees’ remuneration packages and related
market trends and information.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management’s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEeHRE(A)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons and entities, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRRMD R AEREKRGER

BERAR

R-B-=F+-"A=+—0 REZHFRH
B THIMEAFMER(AIFEEKARREE
TR B )RR (5 sk AB AR 1D B IR R 3%

Hﬁfwﬁl@xv%%2&%3“%’31'*%/\m
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RIEE S R E &P E 33615 Z KIRTF Eﬁ’:iua
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Name of Shareholder

Nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of
Shares held (L)"°e’

BREE LB RS FrsRGEE (L) Ao

Ascendor Futur Beneficial owner'ee2 237,780,000 58.67%

REY Bl g N2

Will Full Interest in a controlled corporation™ete?2 237,780,000 58.67%

(B3 REVEEE a2

Ms. Wu Hong Interest held jointly with another person; interest 237,780,000 58.67%
in a controlled corporation™ee2

RiT &+ Bt A HFEFEE 0 - R IEEE R

Mr. Zhao Bin Interest held jointly with another person; interest 237,780,000 58.67%
in a controlled corporation™ete2

M Bt A HFEFEE 0 - R IEAE R

Ms. Wang Qian Interest of spouse™ced 237,780,000 58.67%

FHERL P (B 2 7o

Winz Strategy Beneficial ownerhee4 44,370,000 10.95%

Bl Bl a N0

Mr. Chan Sheung Chi Interest of spouseMee® 44,370,000 10.95%

R & S
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in our Shares.

2. Ascendor Futur directly holds 237,780,000 Shares. Ascendor Futur is wholly
and beneficially by Will Full, which is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as to 98.62%, 1.00% and 0.38%,
respectively. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin together
indirectly control all Shares held by Ascendor Futur. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms.
Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin are parties acting in concert pursuant to the
Deed of Acting in Concert. By virtue of the SFO, each of Will Full, Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Ascendor Futur is interested.

Mr. Zhao Weihao established a discretionary family trust (the “Family Trust”)
as settlor for the benefit of himself and Exclusive Summit Limited, which
is wholly owned by him. On 23 April 2021, the Company was informed by
Mr. Zhao Weihao of the completion of the Family Trust arrangement, which
comprises: (i) the transfer of the entire issued shares of HK Alpha Base
Holdings Limited (“HK Alpha Base”) from Mr. Zhao Weihao to Hongkun
Alpha Investment Limited (“Hongkun Alpha SPV”) (which is held by J.P.
Morgan Trust Company (Bahamas) Limited (“JP Morgan Trustee”) in its
capacity as the trustee of the Family Trust); and (ii) the issuance of non-
voting shares by Ascendor Futur to HK Alpha Base, after which, Ascendor
Futur is held as to 99.00% by HK Alpha Base and 1.00% by Will Full.

For the avoidance of doubt, JP Morgan Trustee (or other vehicles set up
underneath it for the purpose of the Family Trust, including Hongkun Alpha
SPV and HK Alpha Base) will not control Ascendor Futur since all shares
issued by Ascendor Futur to HK Alpha Base are non-voting in nature. Mr.
Zhao Weihao (in his own capacity and through the Family Trust), Mr. Wu
Hong, Mr. Zhao Bin, Will Full and Ascendor Futur remain as the controlling
shareholders of the Company. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2021 for further details.

3. Ms. Wang Qian is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Weihao. Ms. Wang Qian is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Zhao Weihao is
interested by virtue of the SFO.

4. Winz Strategy is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Li Yin Ping. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Li Yin Ping is deemed to be interested in the same number
of Shares in which Winz Strategy is interested.

B Mr. Chan Sheung Chi is the spouse of Ms. Li Yin Ping. Mr. Chan Sheung Chi
is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Li Yin
Ping is interested by virtue of the SFO.

EEEHRE(A)

FERRRRAD KRR G ERS

rERARE (&)

Wit -

FRILIERARRABBRNDNEE -

BRiE Y H 5 5237,780,000 % i 1p o BRiE
LHEREEESMEE - MEMAIBBES
Sk RULTRBWEEDRIERHER
98.62% * 1.00% % 0.38% ° HEZHLE - R
0T 20+ il e E R B b= 2R g
BB - BIE—BITEHIE - BERL
g R+ REWEEE—BITBAL -
RIRFEHRIE G  EH - BEREE -
R ZTREWEESEBERARRELHE
BREEMHEREE RO HARERS

HMEREEIERAETARBCREZERS
) Exclusive Summit Limited &) 7 5 2% 37 7
2REFRGEEE(REETE]) - RZZE=Z—F
MAZ+=HB  ARREHEERLENE
RiETLRHE L TR - HPBHE : ()HEE
S £ HK Alpha Base Holdings Limited
(I HK Alpha Base |) £ 2 3 2 % 17 & 1%
# 2 45 Hongkun Alpha Investment Limited
([ Hongkun Alpha SPV |) (%A & fJ.P.
Morgan Trust Company (Bahamas) Limited
(T'JP Morgan Trustee | ) AR & {555 % 7
A EDER)  K(i) B ELMHK Alpha
Base HITEIRZERAD - 1h18 - HELH
HK Alpha Base K & it 5 5l 5 99.00% &
1.00% -

A% E &R 0 JP Morgan Trustee (8 H T
RRGELEENMBUNEMTIE - BIF
Hongkun Alpha SPV & HK Alpha Base) #
TEFIREY - FEREZMHK Alpha Base
BITHFERNDEEREE - BHERKE
(RSB F D RBREER) © RIKZ
T EWEE  BERRBREQEEELRSLRR
RAIMIERARER - BE — P BERE2HAR
AIEMA—S_—FNA-+t=ANA % -

FTHZLABEREFEENERS - RIFEFFR
HEED - FRXLREANBEESTELESE
BeEMAERBE BT AR o

SIEREEBRFIILL2ABRES © RIE
EH MR - FHRELIWEBRIE
RESHAEEOEREE RO HEAE

RS EERFHFLLIMERS - REFS

REFEIED) - BRME R ERR AR FIER
THEEENERSE RO P RS -

EEEEERERAT —ZBZFFR



92

Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHRE(A)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Purpose and participants of the Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was approved and adopted by the Board on 17 February 2020. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Company to grant
options to any employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
client, partner or joint-venture partner of our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (including any Director or any director of our subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with or otherwise engaged by
our Company or any subsidiary at the time when an option is granted to
such person under the Share Option Scheme or any person who, in the
absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to our
Group (the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for the Shares thereby
linking their interest with that of our Group.

Grant and acceptance of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, our Directors may, in
their absolute discretion make offer to the Eligible Participants. An offer
shall be made to an Eligible Participant in writing in such form as our
Directors may from time to time determine and shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Participant concerned for a period of 21 days
from the date upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be
open for acceptance after the 10th anniversary of the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or the termination of the same.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an Eligible
Participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered to such
Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant, together with a non-
refundable remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.0 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by our Company within
such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than
21 days from, and inclusive of, the date of offer).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Grant and acceptance of options (Continued)

Any offer may be accepted by an Eligible Participant in respect of less
than the total number of Shares which are offered provided that it is
accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock
Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of Shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined at the discretion of our Directors but in any event will not be
less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date of the particular option, which must be a business day; (b)
the average closing price of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date of that particular option; and (c) the nominal
value of a Share on the offer date of the particular option.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme together with options
which may be granted under any other share option schemes for the
time being of our Group shall not exceed 40,000,000 Shares, which
represent 10% of the issued Shares as at the Listing Date. Our Company
may seek approval from the Shareholders at general meeting to refresh
the 10% limit provided that the total number of Shares available for issue
under options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of our Group in these circumstances must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of our Company as at the date of
approval of refreshing of the limit. The limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other share option schemes of
the Group must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As
at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.87% of the issued Shares as at the date of this annual
report.
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ESEHRE(A)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Maximum number of Shares (Continued)

Unless approved by our Shareholders in the manner set out below,
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue. Where any further grant of options to an Eligible
Participant would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his close associates (or his associates if the Eligible
Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event no later than
10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an option shall be
exercisable in whole or in part in the circumstances by giving notice in
writing by the grantee to our Company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is so exercised.
Each such notice must be accompanied by a non-refundable remittance
for the full amount of the subscription price for Shares in respect of which
the notice is given. Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and, where
appropriate, receipt of the auditor’s or the independent financial adviser’s
certificate, our Company shall accordingly allot the relevant number of
Shares to the grantee (or his legal personal representative) credited as
fully paid. Though there is no specified minimum period under the Share
Option Scheme for which an option must be held or the performance
target which must be achieved before an option can be exercised under
the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, our Directors
may make such grant of options, subject to such terms and conditions
in relation to the minimum period of such options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as our Directors may determine in
their absolute discretion.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing from 17 February 2020 and the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme as of the date of this annual report is around 5
years and 10 months.

Movements in the Share Option Scheme

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 December
2023, no options had been granted or agreed to be granted, and thus no
options had been exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme. As a result, the total number of Shares available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme as of 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023,
respectively, was 40,000,000 Shares.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the Board confirms that the Company
has maintained the public float as required by the Listing Rules as at the
date of annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transaction

On 26 September 2023, Hongkun Ruibang (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the transfer agreement (the
“Transfer Agreement”) with Beijing Ruihongda pursuant to which Beijing
Ruihongda agreed to transfer and Hongkun Ruibang agreed to acquire
the right-of-use of a property (the “Acquisition”) for a term commencing
from the date of approval of the Transfer Agreement and the Acquisition
contemplated thereunder by the Shareholders in accordance with
the Listing Rules to 30 June 2041 at consideration of approximately
RMB36,846,000, which will be settled in full by way of set-off against
(i) the total amount of outstanding Refundable Deposits owed by Wuxi
Yongging to Hongkun Ruibang Wuxi Branch as at the date of the Transfer
Agreement; and (ii) the total amount of outstanding trade receivables
owed by Wuxi Yongqging to the Group as at the date of the Transfer
Agreement.
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ESEHRE(A)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As Beijing Ruihongda is ultimately wholly beneficially owned/controlled
by Mr. Zhao Weihao (“Mr. Zhao”) and his associates. Mr. Zhao is an
executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, Beijing Ruihongda is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and has complied with the
requirements of reporting, announcement, circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 6 December
20283, the Acquisition was approved and it was completed on the same
date.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26 September 2023
and 6 December 2023 and circular dated 20 November 2023 for further
details.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The (i) royalty-free use of trademarks; (ii) royalty-free use of software
copyright; (iii) provision of property management, property developer
related and value-added services constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

Royalty-free use of trademarks and royalty-free use of software copyright
were within the de minimis threshold provided under Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules and were exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 25 February 2020, we entered into a master services agreement
(the “Master Services Agreement”) with Beijing Herun, in relation to
our continuing provision of property management, property developer
related and value-added services (the “Parent Group Services”) to
Parent Group with term from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022. On 5
December 2022, we entered into a new master services agreement (the
“New Master Services Agreement”) with Beijing Herun and Hongkun
Weiye, in relation to our continuing provision of Parent Group Services to
the Parent Group with term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
The annual caps under the New Master Services Agreement for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are
RMBA45.0 million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
transaction amount of the New Master Services Agreement was RMB8.9
million.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5 December
2022 and 19 January 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 4
January 2023 for further details.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
were entered into:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

according to the agreements governing them on terms that were fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain predetermined
procedures and reported its findings regarding the continuing connected
transactions of the Group set out above for the year ended 31 December
2023 and stated that:

(1)

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the above continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board.

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Company.

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions.

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the above continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by
the Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHRE(A)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of
the Company has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
confirmed the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

In prior years, the Group had made the Refundable Deposits under the
Agency Services Agreements and certain payments as non-refundable
deposits to connected persons of the Company in relation to the
property developer-related services rendered under the Master Services
Agreement. These deposits constitute notifiable transactions and/or
connected transactions of the Company, and would be subject to the
relevant requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.
In addition, during the Reporting Period, the Acquisition constitute a
notifiable transaction and connected transaction and were subject to the
relevant requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.
Further announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the
aforesaid according to the Listing Rules (if required).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related-party
transactions or continuing related-party transactions set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements fall within the scope of discloseable
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules. The connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions of the Group are in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising Mr. Chan Cheong Tat as chairman
as well as Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka
Wo as members, has reviewed, together with the participation of the
management, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events of the Group after 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
audited by Crowe. It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on its audit, on those financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Crowe will retire as auditor of the Company and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment at the AGM.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 100 to 109 of this annual report.

By order of the Board

Ye Xing Group Holding Limited
Wu Guoging

Chairman and executive Director
27 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3 A% BLAD ¥

Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YE XING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
EEEBEZERAERAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ye Xing Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to 191, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

B AR E (E

REEIER

Key audit matters are the matters that, in our professional judgment, was BRETFEHESBBERMNEXHE - BB

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements HABMGEMBREANEAZREENS
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 1B GLEBSBERERMBAEBRSMBR
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming KELAZRRETEEDN - R TeHaE
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these LETRRMHEFNER -

matters.

Key audit matters

BARETSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMHEFANMEERREETSR

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties

B 5 REMERRRELE T KRB

We identified impairment of trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties as a key audit matter due to
the significance of these balances to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of subjective judgment and
estimates made by the directors of the Company in determining
the expected credit loss (“ECL”) for these balances.

BN E 5 & H i fE Wk IE & e UL B8 75 SRR A eR B AR & BT T 4R
RNWEZE - Uk BAFEFEETEZSARNENEERE
(EREEER RS REBHE R - Bt - ZAIBEES R
o PR GRIE I e U BRsE 5 SRR E s n AR AT R 1E o

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
and amounts due from related parties were approximately
RMB88,495,000 (net of allowance for credit loss of
approximately RMB13,594,000) and RMB61,585,000 (net of
allowance for credit loss of approximately RMB57,472,000),
respectively, as set out in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, which represented approximately 20.1%
and 14.0% of total assets of the Group.
RZZ_=F+_A=+—H  EX£ENEZEUGIEKREKEH
778 5 FIANREE D B K A AR #88,495,0007T (B HE
EEBBELNAR13,954,0007T) KA R T61,585,0007T (2
MR EEBEREN ARKS7 472,0007T) @ WERE B RFM
20MM21PfEYL - DRIE EEEBEEERL20.1%K14.0% °

The directors of the Company assessed the impairment of trade
and other receivables and amounts due from related parties
based on valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer (the “Valuer”).
NRIEFRBBE L FEGER ([ fHEM D ETHEE M TE
5 FEMSL RN B At FE LKL A % e s R B 5 FRIB BORUE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of trade
and other receivables and amounts due from related
parties included:

FAPIEEE 5 Ko HoAth e W s TR I e Wk B8 05 SR IEDRUEL S B Y
BFeE:

° Obtaining an understanding of the ECL model
applied by the directors of the Company for the
estimation of the impairment of trade and other
receivables and amounts due from related parties;
B RN FEE R ML S 5 A0 HL AU A K% R e
TS IEREN R EEBERL

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;
FHEGERER - s RFHIL

° Understanding and challenging the Valuer’s
valuation methodology, significant assumptions
adopted and significant unobservable inputs used
in the valuation;

BRI E S L EREEERE - RRANEZREKRLA
RiEETERNEE A ABEA

° Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of ECL, on a sample basis; and
EHMEER DAARREEE R ENRE LR
Rk

° Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment of trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties in notes 20, 21
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
AR A M EIRERM 20 « 21F30P AR E S ME
At JRE U5 R B R (B DA K B B T P LUK IE ) 4 BR ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRETSE

REETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN EST N ARERRENSE

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties (continued)

B 5 RAMGERRRIEL FEZET B BB (&)

Impairment of trade receivables was made using simplified
approach under HKFRS 9, except for customers which have
been identified as credit impaired, impairment of such trade
receivables was assessed individually. The management
used provision matrix under simplified approach to assess
impairment, the provision rates are based on groupings of
various debtors by their ageing, which are considered of similar
loss patterns, and taken into consideration of the historical
default rates and the forward-looking information. For individual
assessment of trade receivables, the management considered
the specific factors, such as the creditworthiness of the debtors,
the ageing of the balances and the forward-looking information.
B ZRECRERERIET BV B REEFOR KB AL ITEL
7 BREEIRRERRENESIN  HILEESHRKFETES
Al o EREFAMC A TR EBER R ERE  BEXRE
RTIREBANKRRSE  ZRBONEREN  UERFELE
HWERMATEIEERN - HRBSRBKHERE - BEEEZERT
BREE  nEBANEAE - AEAREMATEEE -

For other receivables and amounts due from related parties,
impairment was made using general approach under HKFRS
9. Under the general approach, management used estimations
and judgments to estimate default rates and loss rates under
different stages by making reference to the credit rating and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.

S0 LAt B MR A R U e 77 FIR - IR B TS R YR S 95k
B —MRFETIRBE - E—RFET - ERERBLERERTIR
MERBREBRRNREEER - EA G FHE R AT AR
BB A EFBR K o
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For trade receivables which are collectively assessed
using simplified approach under HKFRS 9, with
the assistance of our valuation specialists where
appropriate:

HRIRBEE AN BREEINEIRTHNEE R EETE
HREOE SRR - ERMOEEZROHE T (1ni#E
) - B

° Assessing the reasonableness of the grouping
used by management by evaluating the credit risk
characteristics of these receivables;

BRI AL RN ERRBSE - FHEERE
RN BENEIRMT

° Obtaining and testing the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to the
underlying financial records;

BRI E ZRBRARRONE - AR RE
% - SRR ISR BT T AT

° Evaluating the appropriateness of historical period
selection and evaluated the reliability of the key
data input to calculate historical default rate,
including historical credit loss experience and
current status of each portfolio, trade receivables
lifetime recovery information and other relevant
data; and
FHEE S REEEREE M - WA ARERE S
BOXNBAREN AN EYE  BEELERE
KB EKRELASNWERNRE  BFRKAEK
REIWCERMEAMRREER - &

° Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
condition and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors.

FHEE R B ERDRIEE BB RN EE LK
REFEMEAET TESRE -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRETSE

B AR E (E

REETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RN EST N ARERRENSE

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties (continued)

B S REMEWRRELFFET R BB (&)

For trade and other receivables and amounts due from
related parties which are individually assessed using
general approach under HKFRS 9, with the assistance
of our valuation specialists where appropriate:
HRBIBEEBYBREENFOR T —RITEETES
AT A B B 2 M8 SRR EL A R W R % R LA B e 0T OB - AR
P BHERNWHE T (ER) - £ -

Assessing the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the management’s judgments
on classification into one of the three stages
required by HKFRS 9 by challenging the criteria
for determining if a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred (stage 2) or if the receivable
is credit-impaired (stage 3) by examining the
relevant supporting documents or information on a
sample basis to evaluate if there has been timely
identification and consideration of changes in
credit risk; and

ABE T ERRRETEEEIN(FELEER) I IE
WERFE R B EEARME(EIER)HIRE - FHEE
BEHSBMEBVBREERDESREZRKN =1
R —HHERNSBEMEE T - BBMERRE
HEAEREREARETTIHEE MRERNMEET
BEERRNEL X

Evaluating the appropriateness of inputs and
assumptions applied in the determination of
impairment, including staging classification,
probability of default, loss given default, exposure
at default and forward-looking information.

FHE AR EERENEAFNRRNES T - 25
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRETSE

REETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN EST N ARERRENSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB RV EER IR B EE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to RMB29,709,000, which was mainly resulted from
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Jiangsu Wanhao
Property Services Limited in 2021. Management had to perform
impairment assessment of goodwill annually in accordance with
HKAS 36.

HE-_Z-_=F+ZA=+—H BAENKEEEAEARARE
29,709,0007C * BB - —FRBIHEZMERBERAF
100%BHEFTE - EREMARBEESSTHEFECRFFHHE
HEITRIERHE °

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the directors’ impairment assessment of
goodwill based on the ‘value in use’ of the Group’s underlying
cash generating unit (“CGU”) that involves judgements and
estimates about the future results of the business, and key
assumptions including revenue growth rate, long-term growth
rate and the discount rate applied to future cash forecast.
MK BRENEREA—ERREASE  BAEESIRE
SEARReEFST((REELER DN EREREHEEE
ITRERHE - ZAHES R R R EB AR AE MG - U RE
FRALREZEANNBRER  RAEREMERATARREE
AIEBEERE o
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment included:

AR RER ER AHEHEF R

° Discussing with the management to understand
the management process in impairment
assessment of goodwill and the key estimations
made by the management in the impairment
assessment of goodwill including growth rates in
revenue, estimated profit before tax and pre-tax
discount rates;

HETRE N - AR EREN AR EIRIRIEA
NERBAEBEREN G MEOREREET - 2458
WABRE - LS RTA BB AR X

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the growth
rates in revenue and estimated profit before tax,
with reference to current financial position and
historical financial performance;
2RE R BARNME LIRS - FFERAER
EMEEATAF BN SR

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
forecasts approved by the management by
comparing the actual results of the CGU to
the previously forecasted results used in the
impairment assessment of goodwill;
BEBRECEFEMNERARBBEREANL
ROTEDRI 48 RAETTEL B - AT B IR E LA R B B T8 A
AR



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB R ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSHE(E)
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
HRENSEE BMMET AR EBEETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

B R AR & E R AR BTG ()

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the sensitivity
analysis performed by management on the
key assumptions to understand the impact of
reasonable changes in assumptions on the
recoverable amount;
AEEEEHBREBRETHERES TG E
M DA BRSBTS FEMNTE

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the VIU
calculations, on a sample basis; and
AR FirEEMEEAENRSEERM
K

° Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures related to goodwill impairment
assessment in notes to the consolidated financial

statements.
L AR EB RS OB SRR M R S B R E R
HENBENT DI o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BE RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B RS (4

BB E T e M RRAAE
ZEE(&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

o  HERRMHELLSTERNREN
T o IRIFFTEERMESHERRE -
EREFEEFHEIIEREHENERT
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TEEREINE - REERMEETE
AIRMIEEERIFBRRERR - TMH
fEREENZEERE B IEPAESHE
FHERRE o A RRFRSLBRAIESE
B BEEETRRELE -

o  FHHERSMBHWRWEBRIIBIA &
BMAR - BREEE  ARGAMBR
EETERRIBAXZMER °

o i BERERNEBIEHIBNUBEE
AEBGER - EENERE - AR
EMBHEABRER - BfIAE BEH
BTV TA - BEMEIT - HMIAE
AAERAEREHEE -

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among BREMEIEIN  BMEEREBBFENE
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant FHEIE - BETH  EAFERS  BE
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that BT ET Bl A ER R i 80 (E o] & KR

we identify during our audit. b o

BATRAEREBRRRH  HBARMENAE
BB MEMNERERERER  WHRRESE
BBBREAEMERAEFERMB LM
RPT A BEMEMER - U REEANER
T - 1HREEPI S G o

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024

Tsui Kar Lam Karen
Practising Certificate Number: P06426
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHEMEEWEE

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
st AR¥TFT AREFT
Revenue g 6 341,405 343,498
Cost of services BRAGAC AN (279,712) (276,475)
Gross profit EX 61,693 67,023
Other income EgA 7(a) 2,137 2,965
Other gains or losses, net HbyFzask &8 7(b) (59) 2,088
Administrative expenses TR (49,332) (49,167)
Impairment loss of trade and other B 5 K E M FEWGIB R E R A
receivables, net HE 8 (5,775) (38,420)
Impairment loss of amounts due from FEUR B 7 R B 18
related parties 8 (18,893) (38,579)
Selling expenses HER (3,818) (1,892)
Interests on lease liabilities HEABEZFE @) (39)
Loss before tax BRA% AT E1E 11 (14,055) (56,021)
Income tax credit FRiSTiE % 9 309 4,149
Loss and total comprehensive loss for FEBEREAEEZE
the year (13,746) (51,872)
Loss and total comprehensive TIEEFEBEREEER
loss for the year attributable to: FEE
— Owners of the Company R VNEIE =N (14,048) (51,909)
— Non-controlling interests — IR 302 37
(13,746) (51,872)
Loss per share (RMB cent) BREBAREES)
- Basic —HARK 12 (3.47) (12.81)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B EE R &

As at 31 December 2023
RZZE-=%+=-RA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥FIT AR¥TFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE REE 14 37,238 41,741
Intangible assets B EE 15 12,643 15,754
Deferred tax assets ELBIAEE 16 19,298 13,019
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 37,296 898
Goodwill EES 18 29,709 29,709
136,184 101,121
CURRENT ASSETS REE R
Properties held for sale BEFEEE 19 5,338 6,562
Trade and other receivables %%&ﬁ’rﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂlmlﬁ 20 95,086 86,447
Amounts due from related parties U B 7 SR 21 61,585 82,524
Tax recoverable A YO IR 1,201 4,380
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 22 140,090 135,219
303,300 315,132
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N HEMpERFRIE 23(a) 115,645 126,423
Contract liabilities SR8 E 23(b) 80,834 69,141
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 59 60
Tax liabilities MIEEE 3,965 4,161
200,503 199,785
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 102,797 115,347
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERABEE
LIABILITIES 238,981 216,468
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES #u.éwﬁ{*
Lease liabilities 4" =L 24 71 130
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 16 3,036 3,564
3,107 3,694
NET ASSETS FEE 235,874 212,774
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR G
Share capital RN 25 3,650 3,650
Reserves s 231,268 208,470
Total equity attributable to owners of the BENARGHE ANER
Company L 234,918 212,120
Non-controlling interests DB R R 956 654
TOTAL EQUITY R 235,874 212,774

FUOAZF1ANGAMIERREEED

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 191 were
RZT-_ME=A= +tElﬁt/E&Tﬁ$fééFlJ

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March

2024 and are signed on its behalf by: NRBETEEREE
ZHAO WEIHAO 2= WU GUOQING S B f\.)
DIRECTOR % DIRECTOR %

- /q‘

BESBERARAT —T=FFH 111



112

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBER

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-ZT-=F+-A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERRHER ARG

Non-
Share Share Statutory Capital Retained controlling
capital Premium reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests Total
BRE  RBRE  EERE ERGE RERA Nt FERER w5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(Note a) (Note b)
(Bizta) (Hiztp)

At 1 January 2022 ,2::@ A—B 3,650 179,495 22,421 (15,725) 74,188 264,029 540 264,569

Acquisition of a subsidiary Y —RFA - - - - - - 77 77

Loss and total comprehensive iEEﬁé&%@

loss for the year EiReE - = = (51,909) (51,909) 37 (51,872)
Transfer to statutory reserve  EBEEETRHE - - = (336) = = =
At 31 December 2022 and A S

1 January 2023 +-A=+-8k

“£-=%#-A-H 3,650 179,495 22,757 (15,725) 21,943 212,120 654 212,774

Capital contribution fromthe  BARFERERN

controlling shareholder of the ~ {H&

Company - - 36,846 - 36,846 - 36,846

Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEEER2E

loss for the year EiRsE - = = (14,048) (14,048) 302 (13,746)
Transfer to statutory reserve  EEEETRE - - = (620) = = =
At 31 December 2023 T

+=A=+-A 3650 179495 23377 21,121 7275 234918 956 235874

Notes: Kt

a. The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for a. EEBEERBEBREARLME(
the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China B ) AR B R B AKZAM B A R A F R4AL
(the “PRC”) (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) FIARIZM B A R R BUA E ISR ) B
in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches e AR ETEREENZEMBARF
50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve MERE)50% © BrIEAMNIEE R T EE LG
cannot be reduced except either use to set off the accumulated losses or MER - FRITARAEE e
increase capital.

b.  The capital reserve represents: (1) the considerations paid by the Group b. BARfRERE (1 )ﬁ/\iléiﬂﬁézﬁilﬁﬁﬁ
in excess of the paid-up capital of respective group entities upon group BREHEEEEREACEANEHE (23
reorganisation; (2) the capital injection paid by Winz Strategy Company %EﬁﬁﬁEQT(Tle#""%%J)iﬁE’]&étﬂ
Limited (“Winz Strategy”) in excess of the paid-up capital of Beijing RS EEEER AT ([ TEHEH )R
Hongkun Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Hongkun”) (as detailed SESAENBRER  QREESHEY
in Note e) upon the group reorganisation; (3) elimination of share capital of SHIEFOBRH RS R(ONEEEARBET
Beijing Hongkun upon the group reorganisation; (4) issue of shares of the ARBLZIRD + R(B)ANABHERR R FE M
Company upon the group reorganisation; and (5) capital contribution arising ANk B R A 7 (R PR S LA (B 5
from the compensation from the controlling shareholder of the Company by X B (FTFE30) ©
transferring a right-of-use property from its connected parties to the Group
(Note 30).

c. On 13 March 2020, the Company capitalised the sum of HK$2,999,900 @ RZZE-_TFE=F+=H  AAREARQR

(equivalent to RMB2,701,000) standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company and applied such sum in paying up in full at par

299,990,000 shares for allotment and issued to existing shareholders.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

On 13 March 2020, in connection with the Listing, the Company issued
100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (a public offering in Hong
Kong of 50,000,000 and an international offering of 50,000,000 shares) at a
price of HK$1.56 per share (equivalent to approximately RMB1.40 per share)
for a total of HK$156,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB140,437,000)
with issuance costs amounted to HK$12,119,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB11,001,000) being charged to the Company’s share
premium account.

In addition, on 3 April 2020, the over-allotment option in connection with the
Listing was exercised and as a result, additional 5,310,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$1.56 per share (equivalent to
approximately RMB1.43 per share) for a total of HK$8,284,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB7,598,000) with issuance costs amounted to HK$543,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB495,000) being charged to the Company’s
share premium account.

mEEREHR(E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

Bt - (&)

—E-TFE=A+=0 FLEmmE &
RRIAERI156BTHER(HERSR
#9 AR #1.407T ) 47 100,000,000 f% & I
EEOOIBTHEBR(EEALAHES
50,000,000 % X B BX 2% £ 50,000,0000% ) -
4 71 156,000,000 7T (HHE R & AR
140,437,0007T) * B1TRAH12,119,0007%8
T(RERHARE11,001,0007T) * BE5FA
AARHRINEERP -

WoN RZE_TFMNA=H HEWAHE
MBS R TE - EAER1.567
TTHER(FHERSRHARK1.437T) 50
%%175,310,000 R & IR E E0.01 B T A L 3@
f% - A ££8,284,000/8 7t (FHE RO AR
7,598,0007T) + E 543,000/ 7T (FHE R4
AR #495,00070) KA TR A E R AR RIH
B&A7 i BRR P F0BR ©

-

EEEEERERAT —ZBZFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
d =
FERHERER
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_S-_=F+_A=t+—HILFE
2023 2022
—E-=F —Eo—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR¥TT AREFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before tax BREGRTE1E (14,055) (56,021)
Adjustments for: FCERE
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERERETE
equipment 5,991 6,762
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 448 267
Amortisation of intangible assets I EERE 3,111 3,112
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE RERED
equipment &5 2 12
Bank interest income ERITA B A (1,155) (1,509)
Impairment loss of trade and other B 5 & H M fEYGRIEH]
receivables RIEEE 5,775 38,420
Impairment loss of amounts due from FEYR RRES T R E &R
related parties 18,893 38,579
Interests on lease liabilities HERREZNE 8 39
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ YMEME K& )~ & (169) (1,115)
Operating cash flows before movements ~— &iE& & B BRI L
in working capital ReEnE 18,849 28,546
Decrease in properties held for sale REFEEERD 1,224 1,326
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 M E Atb FE U RIAIE BN (16,832) (23,946)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from VH&ZE'%@EM
related parties y4e:)) 494 (14,889)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other ‘fﬁ%&ﬁ‘rﬂfgﬁm
payables R,/ s n (8,360) 9,162
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities ~ &ZE &N, Gd) 11,693 (12,061)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations ~ #E&ELE /(FTA)RE 7,068 (11,862)
Income tax paid EATETISH (3,515) (11,885)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED  &&E8IEL (FrA)
IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES Re 3,553 (23,747)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER(EA)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=%F+_A=1+—HIEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ARETFT AR¥TFT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Advance to related parties [ & 75 2K (119,556) (33,997)
Purchases of property, plant and BEVE  BREREE

equipment (1,593) (10,443)
Repayment from related parties EERAE T ER 121,108 34,059
Interest received BUFIE 1,155 1,509
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising from WE—MTRaZFERE

acquisition of subsidiaries WA Ciit) - 151
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMEER

and equipment FriS 508 103 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ RETHELE (FTA)RE

(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES ] 1,217 (8,721)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEH
Principal paid for lease liabilities HEaBEZENEAS (60) (628)
Interests paid on lease liabilities HEBEZENFE (8) (39)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEFEMARESFHE

ACTIVITIES 26 (68) (567)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BHeRBEESEEHER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #in, GBd) B8 4,702 (33,035)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHzRERASEEER

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 135,219 167,139
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE MNEERSE 2

RATE CHANGES 169 1,115
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRELEEER -

AT END OF THE YEAR AND BRITHESBRES

REPRESENTED BY BANK

BALANCES AND CASH 140,090 135,219

BEEEERERAT —ZT=FFRK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B IS R MY R

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Cayman Islands Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) on 26 March 2019. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are stated in the section “Corporate Information” of the annual report.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Ascendor Futur, a
limited company which was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the British Virgin Islands.

The shares of the Company have been listed on Main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 13 March 2020.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the provision of property
management services and commercial operational services, and
the particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 31.

The consolidated financial statements is presented in RMB, which is
the same as the functional currency of the Company, and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when
otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=%F+_A=1+—HIEE

P ST R AR A5 4T 5 78 B A5 38
A8

A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. fE
HKFRSs &5

(i) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 ) EREEE] USRI BB

—~

January 2023

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements:

HKFRS 17 and related
amendments

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and removed certain
immaterial accounting policies.

BmEEN-—B =T ==

B ==~

F—HA—HBER

AEEARFENERRE ER
AL T BT BB RSB ES
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EAVBHRE RBREY
AEBIZEATHR
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EAGIER HE-QFE4L
F125RMEET MEERERE
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Bt BBRISKE -
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A

BRIATRTash - NEEERBERT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ARE I Rk B o ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

HE-_T-_ZF+_A=-+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. ERAFITIREZEBITIEBHBER
HKFRSs (CONTINUED) HEH (&)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year retrospectively. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated
with: (i) right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and (ii)
decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the
related asset; and recognises the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2022.

However, there was no material impact on the consolidated
statement of financial position because the balances qualify
for offset under paragraph 74 of HKAS 12. There was also no
material impact on the retained profits at 1 January 2022 as a
result of the change. The key impact on the Group is related
to the disclosure of components of deferred tax assets and
liabilities recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

(ii)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants'

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements’
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The Group is currently evaluating the potential impact of these
standards on the consolidated financial statements.

3.

BB WK (R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-ZE-=F+-A=1+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial
statements of the Company and companies controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary or business begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary or business and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary or business. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date of the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary or business.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries or business is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are initially stated at costs and subsequently
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Leasing
The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of a contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
agreements in which it is the lessee at the lease commencement
date, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the date of initial application.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate;
° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease liabilities are presented on a separate line in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

The lease liabilities are subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to
a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liabilities, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful live of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not to
separate non-lease components from lease components, and
instead account for each lease component and any associated
non-lease components a single component. The Group chooses to
use this practical expedient.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those services.
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

Control of the service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the service is transferred over time if:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the service transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the service.

The Group provides property management services, property
developer related services and value-added services to property
developers, property owners and residents. Revenue from providing
services is recognised over time in the period in which the services
are rendered.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Qutput method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing services to a customer,
the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified service before
that service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified service by another party. In this
case, the Group does not control the specified service provided
by another party before that service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified services to be provided
by the other party.

Property management services

For property management services fee income from properties
managed under lump-sum basis, where the Group acts as principal
and is primary responsible for providing the property management
services to the property owners, the Group recognises the fee
received or receivable from property owners, which is a fixed
amount, as its revenue and all related property management costs
as its cost of services. For property management services fee
income from properties managed under commission basis, where
the Group acts as agent, the Group recognised its revenue on a net
basis. On a commission basis, the Group charges a pre-determined
percentage at 10% of the total property management fees received.
Any direct cost under the property management service agreement
shall be borne by property owners and residents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Property developer related services

Property developer related services to property developers and
other property management service companies mainly include
property planning and design consultancy services, pre-delivery
inspection services, sales assistance services, post-delivery repair
services or a combination of these services at the pre-delivery
stage to property buyers. The Group agrees the price for each
service with the customers upfront and issues the monthly bill to
the customers which varies based on the actual level of service
completed in that month.

Value-added services

For value-added services, it includes community-related services
ranging from utilities services, household repair and maintenance
services to other value-added services that meet the daily needs
of the property owners and residents. Revenue is recognised
over time/at a point in time in the period when the related value-
added services are rendered. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately when the value-added services are rendered to the
customer.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and state-
managed retirement benefit scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deduction of any
amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit during the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE T =-H#+-"A=+—HItFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or
modification.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

Ejﬁé—fﬂ;&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ (nlﬁ)

BIE(E)
ISk - WEREEIR A N SRR E
2 BT ERRETPIRAME -

EEHEAE T EN B AR AR ER
E@B’Jﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%?‘wﬁﬁiw MEARE

BRI I B R = R o) S A FE ]

BERN AT R RSB AVERR © B3
%?ﬁﬁ*ﬁ@%E’Uﬁf?ﬂﬁgﬁ%igﬁﬁﬁiiﬂ'ﬂ
ELETIBEE - BN 6E8 B HERF
si F) A] DA AR B R = BB A FI 2% B B IR
B 57 7R AT LA OB T DARERR o

BEHIRE ENREER S REHRIE
Higst - WA TBE R ARRTUEN S
B2 AR ok B8 53 & 2 AT AU B I/ AR FE
SR

BIERIBEENRBBNIRBHNMEESR
BRBREENMEANT R (RS
HAEEMKNELD FEEHNFHER(R
FR)BEE)E -

ERERRBENEENTERRAEE
REREHRBHROIKEZELEER
BEMNKREEMN T AGELNTRERER
B

HBENADAREaEMEENEE
REME  AEREGHERHEEER
BB ENB12RMEHARE -
BRRERGBERIAR - HEGAESR
F&fﬂ BEAENEREETERYIAHE
RIFHER o .E%ﬁl{fifﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ kEE
ERImEREHREAEEEREERE
ZEERESNERERE - TEDSR
WRMR - RENTTERERZ BETT

73
o ©

B RIRFE R AN R s AR B
b2 WG EEN S ERNIEE A
BAERRSN - FEUCIERT - BNEI NGRS
BRS AR EM 2RSS RN
HER o MEAXBEHOMEGHTIEM
ELNHESRERIR - EANETES
FHARBAMFHGET AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are
recognised immediately in profit or loss. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
periods. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions (including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties and bank
balances and cash) are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend but includes interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains or losses” line
item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit-risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix
i.e. analysis of trade receivables by aging and apply a probability-
weighted estimate of the credit losses within the relevant time band.
The probability-weighted estimate of the credit losses is determined
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from financial analysts and governmental bodies, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that related to the Group’s core operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and
other receivables from individual customers, amounts due
from related parties are each assessed as a separate group.
Trade receivables from customers which significant balances
are assessed for expected credit losses on an individual
basis); and

° Past-due status.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of the Group

to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE T =-H#+-"A=+—HItFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and amounts
due to related parties) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only when,
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, the management of the Group is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next twelve months.

Impairment assessment of expected credit losses
for trade and other receivables and amounts due
from related parties

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to estimates the
amount of loss allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables
and amounts due from related parties that are measured at
amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective financial
instruments. The loss allowance amount is measured as the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows with the consideration of expected future credit loss of the
respective financial instrument. The assessment of the credit risk of
the respective financial instrument involves high degree of estimation
and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or a
material reversal of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) amounted to RMB88,495,000
(net of allowance for credit loss of RMB13,594,000) (2022:
RMB?77,763,000 (net of allowance for credit loss of RMB44,665,000))
as disclosed in Note 20 and amounts due from related parties
amounted to RMB61,585,000 (2022: RMB82,524,000) net of
allowance for credit loss of RMB57,472,000 (2022: RMB38,579,000)
as disclosed in Note 21.

Impairment of goodwil

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to RMB29,709,000 (2022: RMB29,709,000) as disclosed
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with finite useful lives

In determining the recoverable amounts of these assets, expected
cash flows to be generated by the assets are discounted to their
present value, which involves significant levels of estimates relating
to sales volume, selling prices and other operating costs. When
a decline in an asset’s recoverable amount has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment amounted to RMB37,238,000 (2022:
RMB41,741,000) as disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, and intangible assets with finite useful lives
amounted to RMB12,643,000 (2022: RMB15,754,000) as disclosed
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
(i) property management service, (ii) property developer related
services, and (iii) value-added services.

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the Group, for the
purpose of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the revenue analysis of each operating
segment in the provision of property management service,
property developer related services and value-added services of
the Group. Other than the revenue analysis as set out below, no
operating results and other discrete financial information including
geographical location by operating segments relating to provision
of property management service, property developer related
services and value added services is prepared regularly for internal
reporting to the CODM for resources allocation and performance
assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(CONTINUED)

No analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is presented
as these information are not regularly provided to the CODM for
review.

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

WAREINDMEERD BABOIN -
TRZEERALATERRHR T EE2LE
IRREER -

Revenue from major services FERBHYN R
2023 2022
—E=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ABRETTT

Type of services BRIEEARY
Property management services YEEIRRG 289,885 290,233
Property developer related services YR B AR 9,651 18,773
Value-added services AR 41,869 34,492
341,405 343,498
Type of customers KPR
External customers SN 331,630 325,886
Fellow subsidiaries EEL =N 9,775 17,612
341,405 343,498
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 25 R TR By i
Over time —RKHERN 322,534 336,920
A point in time P AERE2S 18,871 6,578
341,405 343,498

Performance obligations for the provision of property management
services, property developer related services and value-added
services are either for a period of one year or less or bill a fixed
amount for each month of services provided. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from customers is derived solely from its

operations and services rendered in the PRC, and the non-current
assets of the Group are all located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(CONTINUED)

Information about major customers
There was no revenue from customers individually contributing over
10% of total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022.

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 7.
LOSSES, NET

(a) Other income

HE-_Z-_=Fk=-_ZFT-_—_F+=A
=+—HIEFE  BEKREENEFKA
HAREERBAI0%A L -

Htw AR B F RS S EE

(a) EABUIA

2023 2022
—E-=HF —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR¥TIT

Bank interest income RITHIEUA 1,155 1,509
Value-add tax refund BER R 982 1,456
2,137 2,965

(b) Other gains/(losses), net

(b) HAtbFEUkzs, (E548)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTT

Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ H&E®E - BE K REEE

equipment 2 (12)
Government subsidy (Note) BRAT R (H7eE) 82 1,238
Net exchange gain/(loss) [E 5 s (EiE) 169 1,115
Others EA (308) (253)

(59) 2,088

Note: The government subsidy mainly represents subsidy received
from relevant government authority for supporting the
Group’s property management business in the PRC during
the pandemic. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attaching to it.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-_=%F+_A=1+—HIEE

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 8. REFSIBEINFE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —ET-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Impairment loss recognised on: BRI EEE
Trade receivables — third parties BORKRIE-E=7 5,831 9,000
Other receivables — third parties HERRIE-E=7 (56) 29,420
Impairment loss of trade and other E 5 RAE MW FIE R EEE
receivables 5,775 38,420
Impairment loss recognised on: EHERRERE :
Amounts due from related parties e T B
— trade nature —EB548 19,310 38,162
Amounts due from related parties e RS T B
— non-trade nature —FESHUE (417) 417
Impairment loss of amounts due from FEUR BAR T R E R 1R
related parties 18,893 38,579
24,668 76,999

Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are set out in Notes 20 and 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT FriEHiiER
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR¥TFT

Current tax BERRTE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) Pl SEFTIS L ([ D EEREHL) 6,498 7,854
Deferred tax (Note 16) RIERIB(HT7E16) (6,807) (12,003)
(309) (4,149)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. During the year, certain subsidiaries
of the Group was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 20%
(2022: 20%) for small and micro enterprises with the first RMB1
million of annual taxable income eligible for 75% (2022: 75%)
reduction and the income between RMB1 million and RMB3 million
eligible for 75% (2022: 75%) reduction.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Company and the group entity incorporated in the BVI are
not subject to income tax in the Cayman Islands or any other
jurisdiction.
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 9.

The income tax credit for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

BB WK (R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

FrieBiER (&)

HE—_Z-_=-Fk-_ZT-_—_F+-A
=t+—HIEFEHEHRIERERTRATNEG
TR A B M E M 2R RNY

follows: BRUOR -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTT AREFT
Loss before tax BT A RS 1E (14,055) (56,021)
Tax at the applicable tax rate REAB R ENTIA (3,062) (13,473)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate EERERNB BT E (539) (338)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PR HE B2
for tax purposes 1,205 8,588
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERMIEEENRBEE 2,161 970
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AL AR TR 2 BB BRI
previously not recognised P (182)
Tax effect of income not taxable for AT AT IS 2
tax purpose - (310)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 108 414
(309) (4,149)

DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid/payable to the directors of the
Company (including emoluments for the services as employees of
the group entities prior to becoming the directors of the Company)
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follow:

10.

EE  BSITBRABREEH
[

REBE-Z-_=Fk=-ZFT-"F+=A
=+t—HLFE Bt EREQRE
ENME (BEKRARARIESIING
EERETEEMREEREAOMES)F
BT

-
B o
\

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AR¥TFT
Directors’ fee Yok
Other emoluments H A 37 A
— salaries and other benefits —FHa kHEMEF 2,359 2,673
— discretionary bonus *E‘]I fE4T 240 467
— contributions to retirement benefit RIREFET B
scheme 222 232
2,821 3,372
HEEEERERAT —ZT=FF§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

&

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

2-F

=F+-A=+—HILFE

10. EE  BEETHAEREEH

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) BN (&)
Salaries Contributions
and other  Discretionary  to retirement Total
Fee benefits bonus benefit scheme amount
HeR BARER
e AR WA FHEIfRR aE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEEFTT ANREFIL AREFTL ANEEFTL ANEEFTT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E-c=E
+ZA=+-ALEE
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wu Guoging REMRL - 1,21 100 124 1,495
Mr. Zhao Weihao HERLE - 109 - 5 114
Ms. Li Yin Ping £ 3 - 109 - 5 114
Ms. Zhang Chunying RERLT - 434 140 88 662
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Li Yifan F-NEE - = = = o
Independent non-executive director BUHHTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RERLE - 109 - - 109
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat REELAE - 109 - - 109
Ms. Chen Weijie BRigETT - 109 - - 109
Mr. Leung Ka Wo PRAKE - 109 - - 109
Total Bt - 2,359 240 222 2,821
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-B--F
TZAZt-BLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wu Guoging REPLL - 1,322 250 125 1,697
Mr. Zhao Weihao HEREE - 24 = 10 251
Ms. Li Yin Ping E>3 3t = 174 = 9 183
Ms. Zhang Chunying REETLT = 400 217 88 705
Non-executive dlrector FHTEE
Mr. Li Yifan %4 - - - - -
Indlependent non-executive director BUFHTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REMEE - 134 - = 134
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat RE#EE = 134 = = 134
Ms. Chen Weilie FE i = 134 = = 134
Mr. Leung Ka Wo DRAEAE - 134 - = 134
Total At - 2673 467 232 3,372
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

10. EE  BEETHAEREEH
i (&)

Krat - ERAITERHNARSHERAA

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Note: The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their

services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The non-executive director’s and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for the services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined based on the performance of
individual and market trend for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two directors
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: two). The remunerations
of the remaining three individuals (2022: three) for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out below:

B R A LB EE IR ARTE AOFRBN o
EIERITE S NFH R
RABEZ/AFRRBHEENS -

BBEAERBE T _=FK_-F
T A=THIEFEMNEA
RRRTISHBETE

BE-ZT-=F+-A=+—HILHF
B AEEREERFTMATEER
FER( T ZF - WMB)  cHEZ
T_=F+_A=+—HLLEFE " %

T=BAL(ZZZ=F : =&)0%
Bian T
2023 2022
—E2== —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Salaries and other benefits e REAMET 1,621 1,613
Discretionary bonus BIBTEAT 332 416
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme & {RiEH|5H &4t 3% 273 290
2,226 2,219
The emoluments were within the following bands: FHENEE T -
2023 2022
—E-=F B
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/8 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00187CZ£ 1,500,000 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, no directors waived any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 10. EE EETHRAEREES

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) A (48)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group HEZT-=FKR=-FT=-_=_F+=A
had no forfeited contributions under retirement benefit plan utilised =+—HLEFE  ANEERERBNR

to reduce future contributions. DARREFREVRIRABTET LUK -

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. REAIEE

2023 2022

—E-=HF T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ABRETTT

Loss before tax for the year has been FABBLENBRA TSR

arrived at after charging: 1SH
Auditors’ remuneration % SR 7 A

— audit services —ZH AR 1,600 1,600

- non-audit services — H AR 760 700

2,360 2,300

Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) EEME(HE10) 2,821 3,372
Other staff’s salaries and other benefits ~ H#h 8 T & M H & 7F 110,183 117,867
Other staff’s contributions to retirement  H#h 8 T Z RIK&EFIFH 84 2%

benefit scheme 21,345 18,817
Other staff’s contributions to housing HWE T2 FEATEEHR

provident funds 3,680 3,883
Total staff costs BT AERE 138,029 143,939
Depreciation for property, plant and M - BERERETE

equipment 5,991 6,762
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 448 267
Amortisation of intangible assets B 3,111 3,112
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ARE WS R R B o (48

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable ERENGERENGBRATINERE
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of BRARFEHITR S BRINE TS E
ordinary shares in issue during the year. mis e
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of KRR A ERERNSENTE
the Company is based on the following data: THER AT 8% -
2023 2022
—EZ=H —ET-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTIT

Loss for the year attributable HEREARERN SR AT
to owners of the Company for the HmEAERFEERE
purposes of basic loss per share (14,048) (51,909)
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
Number of Number of
shares shares
R BB ighr = ¢E!
Weighted average number of ordinary HEREAEERME L BR
shares for the purposes of basic hniETF
loss per share 405,310,000 405,310,000
No diluted earnings per share is presented for each of the years HE-_ZT-_=FR=-FT-__F+=A
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as there is no potential =T—HIEFE AREINETERE
ordinary shares in issue during those years. B DEAREFETEEENERITE

A

-
B
\

e /—‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for EETEBRRNEES_=FK=F
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. —F+ZA=+—HIEFEMNEAR
B o
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -  BERXE
Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold fixtures and
and building  improvement equipment Total
HELH R4 EBE
REF HEEE EBRZE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2022 A—E-—%—F—H 23411 14,563 7,791 45,765
Additions AE 6,945 1,665 1,833 10,443
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BFLR - - 55 55
Disposals e = = (47) (47)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBZZEFZA=T-Ak
“Z-=%-f-H 30,356 16,228 9,632 56,216
Additions RE 752 = 841 1,593
Disposals L& = = (245) (245)
At 31 December 2023 R=Z-=F+-A=+-H 31,108 16,228 10,228 57,564
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—%-5-H 255 3,216 4,277 7,748
Provided for the year FERE 1,198 3570 1,994 6,762
Eliminated on disposals FAH SR 5 = = (35) (35)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZZZF+ZA=+-BR
—Z2-=%-f-H 1,453 6,786 6,236 14,475
Provided for the year FERE 1,500 3,220 1271 5,991
Eliminated on disposals T SR8 - = (140) (140)
At 31 December 2023 RZT-=F+-A=1-H 2,953 10,006 7,367 20,326
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 W-F-—%+-A=+-H 28,903 9,442 3,39 41,741
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ#+ZA=+-H 28,155 6,200 2,861 37,238
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
over their estimate useful lives and after taking into account
their estimated residual value, using the straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of
the term of land lease
or 20 years

Leasehold land and building

Leasehold improvement 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 310 10 years

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired
a foreclosed property at a consideration of approximately
RMB6,945,000 through a judicial auction. Hongkun Weiye was the
property developer of the foreclosed property.

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

14. Y% - BERRE(E)

Ltz - BRE REREE R IR EMAE
AE RS R AR RIBEER
RABQRAE NI SFLRETIE

HELHRET Tk 204F

(ABEERE)

HEXE 54

KA BEEKEN 3E10%F
=i

HE-_Z-_—_F+-RA=+—HIEF
E - AEBIAHAREBE,945,0007TH)
REERNEHETWE T —EXED
¥ o BB AR IRMEN Y XM
7o

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B L&EE
Software Customer
copyrights  relationships Total
BiFiE EFBE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTL ANREFT NREFTT
CosT K&
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-Z-—E-f-B —E-—#+-f=1-H
31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-A=1-H 5,000 16,804 21,894
Amortisation B
At 1January 2022 R-_Z-_—%-A-A 2,500 528 3,028
Charge for the year FREE 1,000 2,112 3,112
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZZZE+ZA=+t-BR=F==%-H-8 3,500 2,640 6,140
Charge for the year FREY 1,000 2,111 3,111
At 31 December 2023 RZB-ZZ#+-A=+-H 4,500 4,751 9,251
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 A\_Z-—F+-f=t-H 1,500 14,254 15,754
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=f+-A=1-H 500 12,143 12,643
EEEEERERAT —ZT=FFRH

-

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z—

=F+-A=+—HILFE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Hongkun Holding
developed two mobile applications called Hongkunhui* (%i#&) and
H-Butler* (&8 % ). Hongkun Holding agreed that the Group can use
the above copyrighted software on a royalty-free basis. In order to
expand the functions of the mobile applications, on 10 June 2019, the
Group entered into a software copyright transferring agreement with
Hongkun Holding, pursuant to which Hongkun Holding as vendor sold
and the Group as purchaser acquired some copyrighted software
(i.e. Hongkunhui* (#&3##) and H-Butler* (8& %)) at a consideration
of RMB5,000,000. The Group visualise Hongkunhui* ( % 1# & ) as a
platform for the development and dissipation of new value-added
services, whereas H-Butler* (% & K ) as the key supporting tool for
staff in carrying out daily functions.

The software copyrights have finite useful lives and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over 5 years.

The customer relationships were acquired as part of a business
combination completed during the year ended 31 December 2021,
which represents property management service contracts. They
were recognised at their fair values at the date of acquisition and are
subsequently amortised on a straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of 8 years.

* For identification purpose only

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

15.

*

Hrat -

Ettzs)

BREE(E)

RBE=_ZE—N\F+A=+—HIL
FE B L MR BB ER
TEF & M H-ButlerBE R o JBid
EREENEBAREFERERA L
MARIEE T - BETBEEBRTH
MEE RZZE—NAEXA+A - K&
(%) £ 08 $eh 47 % BT 37 8K Wi A R 1
BB BHERUEAER)EH
& MAEB(EABER)BESTHR
T8 (BN G 3 & 2 H-Butler 1§ &
%K)+ RIEEAARS5,000,0007T ° A
EEE R E A B AR R
BERBHFES - MH-ButlerBE R
B AETIHRAEIENTIENET
B o

BHIRERBEROEAEH - AR
SENREER -

EFBGRAHE_Z-_—F+=A
=+ HIEFETRNEBE S —
B BEMEEEREER - Bk
BEERBERURBERR MR
FEHESFMMF A EAFHANZER
RS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

16. IEIEBLIH

RTEAHTBHRRAERFIIR - HHE
SR EEMB B WIR - ERNH
IR E B EREAS BT ST
T

2023 2022

—E-=F T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTTT AR¥TFT

Deferred tax assets RETHEEE 19,298 13,019
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE (3,036) (3,564)

16,262 9,455

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities

BEREHRCERNELEHBFEE

-
B
\

recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the RaEmT -
current and prior year:
Fair value
Impairment adjustment
loss on business
of receivables combination Total
ERER AREHEE
HEEBE 2AAREBERE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKTFT AREFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2022 RNZZE-_—F—H—H (1,544) 4,092 2,548
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) EREMSER(H79) (11,475) (528) (12,003)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—8K
—E-=%#—A—H (13,019) 3,564 (9,455)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) ERENSER(H79) (6,279) (528) (6,807)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-_=F+-A=+—H (19,298) 3,036 (16,262)
EEEEERERAT —ZT=FFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB WK E(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z_=

16.

17.

FH-A=t—RHIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB15,628,000 (2022: RMB7,714,000) available to offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the tax losses, respectively, due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unrecognised tax losses in the PRC will expire from
2024 to 2028.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated statements of financial position in respect
of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB57,800,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB64,452,000), respectively, as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases office premises and staff quarters to operate
its business. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods
of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The average lease term are 3 to 18 years (2022: 3 years) for the
years ended 31 December 2023.
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16.

17.

JESEBL R ()
R-F-=F+-A=+—0  5%H

A AR RS AR EATEEEAA
R#15,628, 000 (ZE==F : AR
#87,714,0007T) © FRRA AR A s i 0%
TER - BRI E BB ERIELETIEE
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BIEFBEMNEMEHE BZTTNEF
—A—A# - PEHEARRERAERE
wHE IR ESMIENR - R=F
——HE+-A=+—8  TANEEH
BARRE AT EH B A R RaHEF 3]
Bz B EEE AR57,800,0007T(=
T— —F : AR¥64,452,0007T) {EH
EIEF B - EEASEEAE 5 HIE
B = B RO RRSR - AER = RRA]
TG A TE AR R -

EREEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 17. EAEEE(E)
RMB’000
AREFT
cosT R
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 R—ZT—_—_F—H—H"
and 1 January 2023 —E-—F+-A=Z+—HRK
—E-=%—H—H 3,570
Additions i 36,846
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H 40,416
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2022 R-_E-_—_F—H—H 2,405
Provided for the year FERME 267
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBEZZF+ZA=+—HRK
—E-=%—HA—H 2,672
Provided for the year FERE 448
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 3,120
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—F+-A=+—H 898
At 31 December 2023 N-E-_=%+-A=+—H 37,296
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired a RZBZ=F+-_A=+—HILLFE -
right-of-use property of approximately RMB36,846,000 through a AEBEBBEER S A MIE—FTEE
connected transaction (Note 30). #4975 N R #536,846,000 T K18 FAREYD 2
(M#5E30) °
The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other FeBEmkEMEERREEHE NHIE
comprehensive income contain the following amounts relating to FHEN SR
leases:
2023 2022
—EBZ=H —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREESENE 448 267 o
Interests on lease liabilities HEAGBZHE 8 39 . Q

\

E A e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

18. GOODWILL 18. B8
RMB’000
AREFT
COST AND CARRYING AMOUNTS RARREEE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F—A—RH —ZT=-—F
1 January 2022 +-—A=+—AR=-—ZT-_—F—Hf—H 29,330
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 18(b)) W —FRF AR (MaE18(b)) 379
At 31 December 2022, R-Z-_—_F+-A=+—8 "
1 January 2023 and —E-=F—F—HK
31 December 2023 —EZ=F+=ZA=+—H 29,709

(a) Impairment testing on goodwiill

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
completed the acquisition of Jiangsu Wanhao Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Wanhao”) at a consideration
of RMB47,000,000, which resulted in the recognition of
goodwill of RMB29,330,000.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s goodwill
acquired through the business combination is allocated to
the subsidiary which was regarded as a cash generating
unit (“CGU”). The recoverable amounts of CGU have been
determined on the basis of value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial forecast approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period (2022: 5-year period).

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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2 rRUE A
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BIEFE  AEBEZAWET
BEZVERBER AR IE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ARE WS R R B o (48

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 18. BHE (&)

(a) Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued) (a) EERREAIG(E)
Goodwill allocated to the CGUs and key assumptions used in PEINSREELABEVNEER
calculation of recoverable amounts of the CGUs are set out FESRESEABENITKEESE
below: FERBRAOT
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=F+-H=+—H

Annual
revenue Terminal Pre-tax
growthrate  growthrate discount rate
CGU Principal activities Goodwill (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
KEFERE KERRE HARRE
ReELEN TEEH B (Kati) (Hetii) (Hiitiii)
RMB’000
AREFT
Jiangsu Wanhao Provision of property management 29,330 5% 3% 13.0%
services
IHER RENEERRS
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-ZA=+—H
Annual
revenue Terminal Pre-tax
growthrate  growthrate  discount rate
CcGU Principal activities Goodwill (Note i) (Note i) (Note iif)
WEFERE  KEERE  BARRE
ReELEN FEEH B (Hrzt) (Hatii) (Histii)
RMB’000
ANEEFT
Jiangsu Wanhao Provision of property management 29,330 6.5% 3% 15.7%
services
THER RUMEEERE

e ]
B o
\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

18.

19.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
(a) Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Annual revenue growth rate is based on the existing charge
rates and revenue-bearing gross floor area of the properties.

(i) Terminal growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant industry.

(i)~ The management of the Group considered market and industry
data to develop the weighted average cost of capital for the
value- in-use calculation.

The management of the Group determined that there is no
impairment of the CGU containing goodwill for the acquisition
of business during both years. The management also
considered that any reasonably possible change in any of
the assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of
goodwill below its carrying amount.

(D) During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions to
goodwill of approximately RMB379,000 attributable to the
acquisition of 65% equity interest in 75 EEE AR AR by
the Group (note 27).

No impairment test carried out for this CGU as the
management considered the amount is insignificant.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale represent 157 (2022: 193) units of car parks
acquired by the Group which are held for sale, they are initially
stated at costs and subsequently carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

In prior years, the Group entered into several sole agency services
agreements (the “Agreements”) with a former fellow subsidiary
(the “Counterparty”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to
provide agency services to the Counterparty, by sourcing potential
purchasers and providing assistance in entering into sales
contracts with buyers with respect to unsold car park spaces and
shops developed by the Counterparty (the “Agency Services”).
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Agreements, the Group was required to pay
the refundable deposits (the “Refundable Deposits”) up to the
total minimum sales price of the car park spaces and shops to
be sold under the Agreements. Upon expiry or termination of

19. HHEGE

BB WK (R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-ZE-=F+-A=1+—HILFE

ﬁ]s(nﬁ)

REWTE  AEBAXNITRERS
(THRIMERERE ) @R TEBERE
e B EMEMMAHNRELEE -
BAZIHI AR LR - REH B

the Agreements, the remaining sum of the Refundable Deposits MRS ARIBIZS (G B2 ERER
in respect of unsold car park spaces and shops, if any, will be REH -

refunded to the Group in full.

Upon expiry of the Agreements, the Counterparty has not yet BERHE  RZEFERAAEER
refunded the Refundable Deposits to the Group. During the year REBRS REBE-T-_—_F+=
ended 31 December 2022, the Group purchased 232 units of the A=+—8 XEBUHARE

7,888,000 CHI BHE W X 5 ¥ F IR
B232MAREHFEN - ZHED WA
RIS o

20. EFREMEWRIE

unsold car park spaces from the Counterparty at a consideration of
approximately RMB7,888,000, which was offset with the Refundable
Deposits.

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

—E=F T fF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat AR¥FT AREFT

Trade receivables 2 5 EWGIE 91,826 82,632
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEIERE (13,466) (13,915)
78,360 68,717

Other receivables: H b fEIRIA -

Refundable Deposits AREES (a) - 30,566
Deposits Be (b) 1,079 435
Prepayments FEfIIE 6,591 8,684
Payments on behalf of residents REPRE (c) 2,949 4,717
Advances to staff M8 TE 4,107 2,322
Other tax recoverable AT Bl B Atn B IE 312 316
Others HAth 1,816 1,440
Less: allowance for credit losses B S EEEEE (128) (80,750)
16,726 17,730

Total trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AW GRIEREE 95,086 86,447

)
QG
! /- -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-ZT-=F+-A=+—HItFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Refundable Deposits represent amount paid to the Counterparty as
disclosed in Note 19.

In June 2022, the Counterparty provided an undertaking (the
“Undertaking”) to the Group, pursuant to which the Counterparty
committed to refund the remaining balance of the Refundable
Deposits of RMB30,566,000 to the Group by 30 September 2023.
In addition, the Counterparty has guaranteed to obtain the Group’s
approval before selling certain properties (the “Assets”), proceeds
from the sale of the Assets will be distributed to the Group with
first priority. In case if the Counterparty is not able to refund the
Refundable Deposits by 30 September 2023, the Assets will be
transferred to the Group to offset with the Refundable Deposits.

In February 2023, the Group had become aware that according
to a civil ruling issued by Xinwu District People’s Court, Wuxi City,
Jiangsu Province, an application for the bankruptcy and liquidation
of Counterparty had been accepted. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 17 February 2023.

The Group engaged an external valuer to assess the ECL on the
Refundable Deposits and an allowance of RMB30,566,000 was made
as at 31 December 2022, considered the maximum exposure to credit
loss as the Counterparty is in liquidation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has set off the
outstanding Refundable Deposits through a connected transaction
(Note 30).

(b)  The amounts represented the deposits paid for staff quarters, Point of
Sales machines and tendering activities. The deposits are refundable
in the next twelve months at each of the end of the reporting period
and therefore the amounts are classified as current assets.

(c)  The amounts represented the amounts paid on behalf of residents to
the utilities service providers for the services provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Property management service income is generally required to be
settled by property owners and property developers on the date
upon issuance of demand note.

The Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days for its
property developer related services and value-added services to its
third parties.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, before the
impairment allowance presented based on the date of demand note
issued:

BB WK (R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-ZT-=FT-A=+—BLEFE
20. BE5RHMERRIA(E)

OEL AN EA PR PSS
BERREIHEE AR -

REERF Tdﬁﬁ’%%ﬁ%?ﬁtﬁﬁ%ﬁk&
AR TE=7730RNEEH

AT AE S EREIE (RRERERT) &
RO - DERMUBEHHBEHRE
§|J :

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AREFT

0 to 60 days 0Z60X 34,623 32,029
61 to 180 days 61E180X 19,878 17,229
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 10,058 14,349
110 2 years 1226 18,189 6,851
2to 3 years 2E3F 3,874 9,978
Over 3 years HBA3E 5,204 2,196
91,826 82,632

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
subject to ECL model

Except for ECL of trade receivables of nil (2022: approximately
RMB6,285,000) due from the Counterparty which is in liquidation,
which was assessed individually, the ECL of remaining
trade receivables of approximately RMB91,826,000 (2022:
RMB76,347,000) is calculated using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on days past due for group of various
customers that have similar loss patterns.

As at 31 December 2023, allowance for credit losses made for
trade receivables due from the Counterparty amounted to nil
(2022: RMB6,285,000) and approximately RMB13,466,000 (2022:
RMB7,630,000) were made for trade receivables from other
customers.

EHEEEERAARNE
mﬁ‘il& IR R BUERT (S

BB EBTG  EEEBNRHY
FONAREET(ZE__F : ARK
6,285,000) TR E 5 KRN IEIEE
BN - K A R%091,826,000(=
T-—F: AR¥76,347,00070) E
%réuﬁz XETE RS E BB R R
o BB RAIEN AFELIBLER
E@Tﬁ%ﬁﬁtﬁ’a%@ﬁﬂ%@ o

HE-Z-_—_FF+=-_A=+—80"
EREFZANESRIRFTEERLY
BARBZT(ZTE=-__F: ARK
6,285,0007T) * HttEPFPHE F EI
HE) B ANRHE13,466,000T(—E ==
& AR¥7,630,0007T) °

BEEBZERERLTF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
subject to ECL model (Continued)

Movement of ECL on trade receivables due from the Counterparty is

as follows:

20.

B5 R HMEWRREE)

XBHEEBEEARRNE
5 FE WK IR B RE R (48)

HREIKE S HFOR Bl - £E
EERAE A RR TR a2
o -

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AT T

Gross carrying amount RE®E = 6,285
Loss allowance BREE = (6,285)
Net carrying amount FEREEE = =

The following table of ageing analysis, based on the date of
demand note, provides information about the Group’s exposure to

credit risk and ECL for trade receivables from other customers:

As at 31 December 2023

AT EAERE B HOER AT -
144 T AR R S MR O R
EFNE SRR EREEERYE
¥

R-BZ=5+=-A=+—H

0-60 61-180 181-365 1-2 2-3 Over 3
days days days years years years Total
0-60% 61-180%  181-365K 1-2% 2-3F BiB3F /it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL ANEEFT ARETT ARETT AREFT ABEFT  AREFR

Expected loss rate BHEER 5.5% 5.5% 5.5% 25.0% 48.2% 67.2%
Gross carrying amount BERE 34,623 19,878 10,058 18,189 3,874 5,204 91,826
Loss allowance EEEE (1,888) (1,104) (571) (4,540) (1,866) (3,497) (13,466)
Net carrying amount FEFE 32,735 18,774 9,487 13,649 2,008 1,707 78,360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  20.
(CONTINUED)

B5 R HMEWRREE)

XBHEEBEEARRNE
5 FE WK IR B RE R (48)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
subject to ECL model (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+—-A=+—H

0-60 61-180 181-365 1-2 2-3 QOver 3
days days days years years years Total
060X  61-180%  181-365% 1-26 2-3% HiR3E At
RMBO00  RMB000  RMB000  RWMB000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000
AREFT  AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT

Expected loss rate jikil sy pe 55% 55% 55% 23.6% 38.2% 41.0%
Gross carrying amount BEEE 32,029 17,229 14,327 5,655 4911 2,196 76,347
Loss allowance FEEE (1,771) (952) (792) (1,337) (1877) (901) (7,630)
Net carrying amount RRFE 30,258 16,277 13,535 4318 3,034 1,295 68717

AR Tz AT A TERF IR E L B
RSENE - UREFNHBZKA

The provision matrix is based on historical observed default rates
and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the

current and forecasted economic growth rates in the PRC, which
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate) that is available without undue cost or effort.
Such forward-looking information is used by the management
of the Group to assess both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group rebutted the
presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables over
90 days past due based on the historical continuous settlement
by the trade debtors with the Group. Individual customers with
significant balances are assessed individually for the credit risk
based on their probability of default and exposure of default. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by the management of the Group to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

K45 N BNAI S A AR £ & 8 (Bl an b B
ERIRIRRAIGESRE - R T EBEA
REMETENBBEERR) EHR
o ZERRMEENBAREERER
KRS B BVE /T MIBAAORTT
M- ERBEESEBABAEE RS
BE AEEHRBHNBHEROX
B ZRKFRRIERBEEEHEER
BRAHBEE - BREAEHNHEAR
FHEERRERIELEORRIERE
AR BB G - BEOATEHAR
SEEREEN  UBRRABSCES
AHERERI D B -

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 21. EWEES IR

Maximum aggregate
amount outstanding

during the year
rEEREERSLLE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=f T —E-=f T

Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
Hat  ARBFRT ARETT AR®TT ARETTL

Trade nature ESNE

Fellow subsidiaries EELGEMN (8 119,057 119,551 119,551 120,506

Less: allowance for credit losses W EEBEEE (©) (57,472) (38,162)

61,585 81,389

Non-trade nature FEZHE

Fellow subsidiaries RZKBAR (b) - 1,552 5,356 11,329

Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEBBEE () = (417)

- 1,135

Total A&t 61,585 82,524

Notes: Miat -

(@)  The Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days for its property (a) ANEEMHEEE T IREYEREEA
developer related services and value-added services to its related AR5 KIS ERR IS s — AR T 30K M5
parties and no credit term granted to related parties for its provision B - i REEsE T R M EE R RS
of property management services in which such income is generally B WASHRTEESR  BZSRA
required to be settled upon the date of issuance of demand note. BEANMBERHAREE

(b)  The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (b) ZEHREAEEANR R2SEFREXK
demand. Bi& -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(c)

The Group applies the general approach to measure the ECL of
receivables from related parties. Under the general approach,
receivables from related parties are categorised into the following
three stages based on the change in credit risk since initial
recognition: Stage 1: 12-month ECL, Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit
impaired and Stage 3: Lifetime — credit-impaired.

For amounts classified as Stages 1 and 2, the management assesses
loss allowances using the risk parameter modelling approach that
incorporates key parameters, including probability of default and loss
given default and exposure at default. For credit-impaired assets
classified as Stage 3, the management assesses the credit loss
allowances by estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from
the financial assets.

On 11 and 12 May 2022, Beijing Hongkun Weiye Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd (“Hongkun Weiye”), the holding company of
the related parties, announced that 14.75% of its guaranteed senior
notes was in default in payment of the accrued interest. On the other
hand, the default in payment of interest triggered the default of three
other bonds issued by Hongkun Weiye. Up to the date of this report,
Hongkun Weiye had not reached any settlement agreement with
the bond/note holders. As a result of the above events, the Group
considered that the risk of default by Hongkun Weiye increased and
classified as stage 2.

HE

TE-=F+-_A=+—HBItFE

21. EWREERKE(E)

Kt -

ZEREECARR T UG TTIR
HERBENAE  BR-KRITE-
RIE—RIDE - RIBB TIRRIIAK
ERREREL - 1R A 8RB
WORIE D RIAT = AR ER : BEER1 :
12ARBEREE  BR2: Ry
BRERBE-RZERBATE -
PEER3 : RETRHERABE-ERE
K& -

BN ERRREBAME RS
EEEEARRSBEETEETR
REETE - EhBEEOREX -2
WBEMELORRALRE - HIRER
REBRSNEAREREE  EHER
BEFTTRERN SR EEPELNARR
RemeERFEEREEER -

ZEFAA+—HM+=H @
EHMERARE B MEERE
FEERAR ([ BEEE])SH -
H14.75% W ERE F AR EST
FE - B—HE - FEXFELS %
TIREMEEBRITHNIIIN=AEFD
BY - BHEARED » BMEENE
BESR ZEEE AEREMFER
Feo AR LEMEHNTE  KERA
REEEMENRR GG M LER

fEEL2 ©

BEEBZERERLTF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 21. EWEER FIE(E)

(CONTINUED)
Movement in the loss allowances are set out below: BREBNEHBERAT :
Trade nature 2548
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
At 1 January R—H—H 38,162 =
Impairment loss provided FHRRERL 19,310 38,162
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—8H 57,472 38,162
Non-trade nature FEZHME
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT ARETFT
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 417 =
Impairment loss written back SRENF AR (417) 417
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 417
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables from related AT AREEE 250 EWREE S
parties presented based on date of demand note: BB EH IR DT
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR#ETFT
0 to 60 days 0E60X 4,703 7,036
61 to 180 days 61E180K 1,654 11,800
181 to 365 days 181E365K 4,004 10,775
1to 2 years 1524 28,851 49,276
2to 3 years 2E3F 47,482 32,375
Over 3 years 3FLAE 32,363 8,289

119,057 119,551
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ARE WS R R B o (48

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITEBRREAE
The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average IRITHEMIE BN R L - FHFERE
interest rate of 0.20% (2022: 0.35%) per annum. B0.20%(ZFE = —4F : 0.35%) °

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 23. ESNEHMESNFERENE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES &
(a) Trade and Other Payables (a) BEZNREMERFKIE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kia AR¥FT AREFT
Trade payables B SN RIA 37,792 43,852
Other payables: HAfth FEATRIE
Receipts on behalf of residents REFUK (a) 9,782 10,453
Deposits received Bz e (b) 35,780 36,358
Accrued staff costs JEETE TR 18,812 21,064
Accrued contribution to social st e R IR
insurance and housing provident ~ Af&4 Kk
funds 6,474 6,547
Other tax payables E At R HIE 3,457 5,396
Accrued expenses FEETF 2,507 1,851
Other payables At FET FIE 1,041 902

Total other payables HAth R RIEAREE 77,853 82,571

Total trade and other payables B 5 M EAE FRIEREE 115,645 126,423

Notes: Bis

(a)  The balances represented the receipts on behalf of community (a) HEHREREEESKIAR
residents to settle the utilities bills from utilities suppliers. 1 - AREEKEHER R

BEE -

(b)  The balances mainly represented by the utility, interior (b) MHHREZBRAXEEREPIE
decoration and rental deposits received from the property- WAREE  ANREREE
owners and residents. The deposits received are repayable on 2e  c EWIRSBERERE
demand and accordingly the amounts are classified as current B AhZEREDEEAR
liabilities. Pam-

)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 23. ESNEHMESGFERENE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) BE(E&)

(a) Trade and Other Payables (Continued) (a) B REMENFKIAE)

Notes: (Continued)

HrE - ()

(b)

(Continued)

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges
from 30 days to 90 days during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022. The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of
each reporting period:

(b)

(#)

REE-T-_—_FR-T=-—
F+-A=+—HLFE &
FAEEHREEOHEESHNT
30KEX ° L TARE RS
HAENBEZAHIINES

FERFIER BRER AT -
2023 2022
—EC=HF - —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARKFIT
Within 1 year 1FER 28,621 39,421
1-2 years 1224 6,351 4,219
2-3 years 2E3F 2,685 39
Over 3 years 3FLAE 135 173
37,792 43,852
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 23.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities represented the advance from
customers for property management services, property
developer related services and value-added services. The
payment terms vary and depend on the terms of the Group’s

BE-_Z-_=%F+_A=1+—HIEE

ESREMEARIERENE

& (&)

(b) B#AIRE

>

BHABEEERYEEEREN
BEFPBRK - MEREEARERY
RIBERS - IHEHRERBR
FAREENYEERRB S OMK

property management services contracts. FRMGE °
The movements in contract liabilities are as follows: EHNBENEBIT -
2023 2022
—E=F T _F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ARETTT

At the beginning of year REH) 69,141 81,202
Receipt from customers upon entering R AF] A #IEF A5 P IR

contracts during the year 312,854 298,164
Revenue recognised that was included R AAS KB EEHE

in the contract liabilities balance at B iR

the beginning of the year (61,630) (70,126)
Revenue recognised during the year ~ RAFREREREFERZF KA

that was related to receipt from FERAR) Y

customers in the same year (239,531) (240,099)
At the end of year RER 80,834 69,141

When the Group receives advanced consideration from
customers before the property management service activities
commence, this will give rise to contract liabilities, until the
revenue recognised on relevant contract upon provision of
property management services.

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year.

EAEERYEEEREESHA
SRATR R R PR B RER - #5
EERNAE  EERUMEE
2RISR SRR & KO RER MR AR

PR MR BERE BN —F R
Bala o

-

BEEERRARARE —T-=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. FHEG®E
2023 2022
—E-=4F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTIT

Non-current ERD 71 130
Current n 59 60
Total 5 130 190
2023 2022

—EC-=F T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTT

Minimum lease payment due: SEREERNRBANT

— within one year —15R 68 68

— more than one year but not —1F A BN BEF
exceeding two years 68 68

— more than two years but not —2F LA B NEBIBS
exceeding five years - 68
136 204
Less: future finance charge B RREEE A (6) (14)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBENRE 130 190
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

24. HEREGH)

2023 2022
—E-=HF - —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHFT AREFT
Present value of lease liabilities: HEBBNIRE :

— within one year —1FRA 63 60

— more than one year but not exceeding —1FLA_EBTHBiE2F
two years 67 63

— more than two years but not — 2 LA BN EBIBS
exceeding five years - 67
130 190

The Group lease various properties to operate its business and
these liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to
its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the Group’s
treasure function.

Extension options are included in certain lease agreements entered
by the Group. Certain periods covered by the extension options
were included in these lease terms as the Group were reasonably
certain to exercise the option at the lease commencement date.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments of lease
liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2023 are RMB68,000
(2022: RMB567,000).

AREAESEMEAGR LS - T
2 B AR X RN ROR
B -

AEFYEAREERERGREARDE
TR - MEREEASENMHREE
RN B o

REERI A THE WA BT
EERE N AEERNEERIE A
EEEITEEEE - NI ERREERR
BENETHRERREZSHESN
A o

BE-_Z-=F+-RA=+—HI1EHF
E-HEReRHAE(RIERESR
BN AAREE8,000C(ZFE ==
F : AR¥567,0007T) °

-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR
Details of authorised and issued share capital of the Company are as ARBNEERBBEITRARNGFRAT ¢
follows:
Number of
shares Share capital
R A B &
HK$°000 RMB’000
FET ARETFT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRO.01BTH L BR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022, RZE-ZF—-HA—-H"
1 January 2023 and —EZ=F-HA-Bk
31 December 2023 “ZE-=F+-fF=+—H 500,000,000 5,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRBERR
At 1 January 2022, RZEZ=F—F—H"
1 January 2023 and T =F—F—HBk
31 December 2023 —E-=F+-A=+—H 405,310,000 4,053 3,650
All new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all FrEFROEMB T EMEBERNES

respects.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

s -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or the future cash flow will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows from financing

A R R MR ()
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

26. BAEEEIFELERENYEIR

TRAAASEREZBDAEEAED
2E  BREASRIFREES - BER
PREANBERRSNEBC JRKR
EREBRAEENGRRESRERA
PERBEERDAERSRENAE -

activities.
Non-cash
changes
FREEE
At Interests At
1 January Financing on lease 31 December
2023 cash flow liabilities 2023
R-BZ=F R=BZZ=F
—A—H RERER HEEEFNE +=BA=+-—-H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT
Lease liabilities HERE 190 (68) 8 130
Non-cash
changes
FREEH)
At Interests At
1 January Financing onlease 31 December
2022 cash flow liabilities 2022
S i ——
—HR—8 mEReR MHEAGEMNE +=-A=t+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETFT
Lease liabilities HEBE 718 (567) 39 190

e ]
B o
\

e /—‘

EEEEERERAT —T-=F5RH 177



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB WK E(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE
27. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 February 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of 65%
equity interest in Dongfang Yirun Medical Co., Ltd. pursuant to a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party at
a consideration of RMB520,000. At the date of acquisition, the fair
value of total identifiable net assets amounted to approximately
RMB218,000. As a result, the Group recognised a goodwill arising
from the acquisition of approximately RMB379,000 (Note 18) and an
increase of non-controlling interests of approximately RMB76,000 at
the acquisition date.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable to the growth
and profit potential. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for the income tax purposes.

Revenue and loss contributed by Dongfang Yirun Medical Co.,
Ltd. for the year ended 31 December 2022 were insignificant to the
Group since acquisition.

Had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue and loss of the Group for the year will not be materially
different.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

27.

W iE — M E AR

RZZZ—F-A=+N\H  ~&EE=
RRURER S BB EARAR o RIKE
BYE=FRTNEEWT  REA
AR#520,0007T - RE B - B
REFEEBHNANBBENAARE
218,0007T ° At - ANEERUEE B #E
SRk B B A R R A9 A R 379,0007T
(FIsE18) R A HREEHIE M AR
#76,0007T °

RUWBELNEE  TEEANZERN
ERMBEENE - SHERNHERAT
ARETE SR A PR ©

REZE-ZT-_—F+-A=+—HILHF
B BWEERER S HEEERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

29.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of non-trade amounts
due to related parties, share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure periodically and considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital and balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

e TR R M (B

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

28. EXERERE

29.

AEBEBEHEEAUBRANEEETE
BEAHFELY  RBBELEBR
R BRI RERF AR - KNEE
BRERENEBE S —_=FR=_F -

= A=+— A FEERTE -

AEENEARBRITRNEES R
SRR ~ BRA K S o

REETE s EARRE N E BEARNK
AEEERHERBRENAR » WiEE
IR RS R BETTR A R BT ER X
BOREEHFEOEEBEARRSE -

TR TS

h

B T
(a) &I EfER

30

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Financial assets SWMEE
At amortised cost BB ER AR 2 289,858 295,506
Financial liabilities SRAE
At amortised cost IR AR E (112,318) (121,217)
)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from/(to) related parties, bank
balances and cash and trade and other payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The management of the Group monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through
internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk
(including interest rate and foreign currency risks), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below and remained unchanged during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed rate lease liabilities.

The management of the Group considered that interest rate
risk of bank balances and lease liabilities are insignificant and
accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions were mainly conducted in RMB,
the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and its major receivables and payables are denominated
in RMB. The Group is subject to foreign exchange rate risk
arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated
in currency other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The majority of the Group’s foreign currency
transactions and balances are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The management closely monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets/
liabilities are mainly bank balances and other payables at the

end of each reporting period and the carrying amounts are as
follows:

B

ECEBC=F+-A=+—RHIFE

29. €T E(E)

(b) TELEMREIE B FENMBER

(%)

B ()

SMEmSE ()

RE & AR AR B S HE
K AE AEEERRITAYR

KEMERNFIE - HRE(EERS
me

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFT
Assets BE
Hong Kong Dollars BT 7,440 5,099
United States Dollars ET 9 6,968
Liabilities aE
Hong Kong Dollars BT (2,613) (912)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currency. The sensitivity rates used
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number
below indicates the increase in post-tax profit/decrease in
post-tax loss for the year where RMB weakens 5% against
the relevant currency. For a 5% strengthening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit/loss and the balances below
would be negative.

TRELAEEHARE LA
FASMEER FFH R TRE5% (=%
ZF 5% BURE © TR
ZHBEREEEHERNAIE
BHEZF ARG o THIES
REEARELARBINEERT
PE5% M - AN R BR AR S FI I8
m/BREEERONEE - A
REALMAIMNEHEERE £t
5% - AR B ER,BEET
FHRERROTZE - A TER
AR -

-
B
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

ERMIA(E)

(b)

T REE RS IR B AR MR
(&)

m]ﬁ&

Market risk (Continued) Mg Rk (&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SME S ()
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREDIT(E)
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AT T

Hong Kong Dollars/ BT ET

United States Dollars
Impact to loss for the year FEBENTE +/-242 +/-557
Credit risk FERE

The Group’s maximum expose to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position
at the end of each reporting period. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets. However, the
management of the Group will consider collateral or other
credit enhancements should the need arise.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on amounts due
from related parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 with
details set out in Note 21. The assessment on recoverability
have been set out in Note 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk with the customers, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before
accepting any new corporate customer, the Group uses
an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances based on
provision matrix and other debtor balances under the general
approach.

Please refer to Note 20 for the ECL assessment of trade and
other receivables and Note 21 for the ECL assessment of
amounts due from related parties.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group’s management
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

All of the Group’s liabilities except for lease liabilities set out
in Note 24 are carried at amounts not materially different from
their contractual undiscounted cash flows as all the financial
liabilities are repayable on demand or within the credit period
granted by suppliers at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

ERMIA(E)

(b)

T R E R EIE B R MR
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1K o o AEEEEBERER
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EEBERAEE S MR
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For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 29.

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

30. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES 30.

DISCLOSURES

Related parties balances

Other than the balances with related parties set out in Note 21, the
Group did not have any other related parties balances as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Related parties transactions

Other than the transactions as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Group had the following significant
transactions with fellow subsidiaries of the Group as follows:

ERMIAGE)
(c) EMIAZAHEFE

ARREERE » AV BRE
PR ER A AR SRS E N
TRABEMNREEZELQFEM

A

;Eo

MHRREESHE

BT A ER

BRESFE21 Pk 2 BEE 5 SRR AN - A&
BN -—ZT = —E-—-F+=A
=+ —BEMEEMEES A% -

REZEAVBREREMHBAIERENRS
I RBEE_=FR-_E-C
+ZA=+—HLEFER  FNEBEE
EEREMBARBUNTEARS :

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-BLFE

2023 2022
—E=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARETIT

Property management, property developer 43 E 18 - ¥R RHEE R

related and value-added services AR
Purchase of right-of-use property IHEFEREYE
Interests on lease liabilities HEABZFE
Advances to related parties M) F8E T BN
Repayment from related parties BAERER

8,888 17,612
36,846 -
= 27
119,556 33,997
121,108 34,059
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Related parties transactions (Continued)

On 26 September 2023, Hongkun Ruibang Property Management
Company Limited (“Hongkun Ruibang”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the transfer agreement
(the “Transfer Agreement”) with Beijing Ruihongda Enterprise
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ruihongda”), pursuant to which
Beijing Ruihongda agreed to transfer and Hongkun Ruibang
agreed to acquire the right-of-use of a property (the “Acquisition”)
for a term commencing from the date of approval of the Transfer
Agreement and the Acquisition contemplated thereunder by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules to 30 June 2041
at consideration of approximately RMB36,846,000, which was
settled by way of set-off against (i) the total amount of outstanding
Refundable Deposits owed by Wuxi Yongqging to Hongkun Ruibang
Wuxi Branch as at the date of the Transfer Agreement; and (ii)
the total amount of outstanding trade receivables owed by Wuxi
Yongging to the Group as at the date of the Transfer Agreement
(collectively the “Outstanding Balances”). As at the date of the
Transfer Agreement, the Outstanding Balances were fully impaired
as set out in Note 20.

As Beijing Ruihongda is ultimately wholly beneficially owned/
controlled by Mr. Zhao Weihao (“Mr. Zhao”) and his associates.
Mr. Zhao is an executive Director and a controlling shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, Beijing Ruihongda is a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As such, the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and has complied
with the requirements of reporting, announcement, circular and
independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 6 December 2023, the Acquisition was approved and it
was completed on the same date. The difference of the fair value
of the right-of-use property acquired and the carrying amount of
the Outstanding Balance was credited to the capital reserve as
the compensation was received from Mr. Zhao, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Please also refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26
September 2023 and 6 December 2023 and circular dated 20
November 2023 for further details.

30.

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
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30. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel

The discretionary bonus of key management personnel during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was as follows:

30. HHEEREAESKE ()

TEEEAEHM

TEEBABREBEE_Z-_=FK_ZT
T+ A=+ HIEFEMNBIBEE
A

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ABRETTT

Salaries and other benefits e REMET] 4,590 4,634
Discretionary bonus BIEIEAL 602 928
Contributions to retirement benefit RN FET B K
scheme 577 634
5,769 6,096
The discretionary bonus of key management personnel is TETEABNRBEICAD2REAL

determined by reference to the performance of individuals and
market trend.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of the property
management, property developer related and value-added services
as disclosed above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in section “Connected Transaction and Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=%F+_A=1+—HIEE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

At the date of this report, the Company has direct and indirect
interests in the following subsidiaries:

31. MBRRFHE

RAHREBH  RABRTIIMERR
BEER N AR

Place and date Equity interest Principal activities
of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
ML, B SMER BRT IRXBR
G B R A RBRER AEBEELRE TELEHY
2023 2022
Bz _—ZT__F
Directly held:
BERE
Ye Xing Holdings Limited BVI USD0.01/ 100% 100% Investment holding, BVI
4 April 2019 USDO0.01 )
EERRERAR EBRUHE 001X,/ REZR - EBEREE
“E-NFRANA 0.01%7T
Indirectly held:
EFFE -
Ye Xing (HK) Holdings Limited HK HKD10,000/ 100% 100% Investment holding,
12 April 2019 HKD10,000 HK
BE(BE)ERERAA BB 10,0007,/ REEKR  BA
“E-NENATZH 10,000/ 7T
Beijing Hongkun Ruibang Property The PRC RMB31,625,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company Limited* 18 June 2003 RMB30,000,000 management Services,
(Note) the PRC
AR ANEERERARAME) + AR¥31,625,0007T,/ R ERR - oF
ZEZ-FRATNR AR #30,000,0007
Beijing Hongkun Property The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management* (Note) 16 July 2010 RMB5,000,000 management services,
the PRC
bR ETIRER AR (MiE) HE AR%5,000,0007T,/ RENEERRY - HE
“E-ZELA+H AR#5,000,0007T
Xianghe Hongkun Property Service The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Company Limited* (Note) 25 April 2011 RMB500,000 management Services,
the PRC
EARENERBEERAR (M) HE AR#500,0007T,/ RENEERRE - PE
“E——FWMAZTAA AR #500,0007T
Dongfang Hongkun Ruibang Property  The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Service Company Limited* (Note) 11 October 2011 RMB500,000 management services,
the PRC
RARERANERBERRA M) HE AR#500,0007,/ RENEERRY - HE
—E—F+A+—H AR#500,0007T
Yichang Zhongxiang* (Note) The PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
21 November 2012 RMB500,000 management Services,
the PRC
HETAMEERERAR M7 i ABR#3,000,0007T,/ R ERR - oF
“Z-—F+-A=-+—H  AR¥%500,0007

BEEBZERERLTF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB WK E(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2023

HE-_T-_ZF+_A=-+—HILFE
31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) ME AR E (&)
Place and date Equity interest Principal activities
of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
IR, B SMER/BRT TEXRR
ARA HER A RBRER AEBELRE TELEHY
2023 2022
ZB-=f —ZT-—F
Hongkun Business The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company 17 December 2008 RMB5,000,000 management services,
Limited* (Note) the PRC
B EEER H AR #5,000,0007T, RENEERRS - &
BRAR(HE) “ZETNFrZA+T+RE ARHKS5,000,0007T
Hongkun Valley* (Note) The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
18 February 2016 Nil management services,
the PRC
ERBRALXELET EF AR #5,000,0007T,/ RUDFERRE  TE
BRAR (M) - REZA+N\H z
Cloud Era Enterprise Operation The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company 19 February 2016 Nil management services,
Limited* (Note) the PRC
ERERREFES Gi I AR#5,000,0007t,/ RENEEERS -+
ERBRAR(H:T) ZE-REZATRR T
Chengde Hongkun* (Note) The PRC RMB1,000,000/ 60% 60% Provision of property
21 July 2020 Nil management services,
the PRC
ARBHERNRERARARMZ) + I AK¥1,000,0007T,/ RENEERRTE - &
ZT-TFELAZ1—H z
Jiangsu Wanhao* (Note) The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
24 September 2003 Nil management services,
the PRC
THER (M) HE AR #5,000,0007T, REMEERRSE -
“ER=FAAZTHA z
Dongfang Yirun Medical Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB1,000,000/ 65% 65% Provision of medical sale
23 May 2016 RMB1,000,000 services, the PRC
RhaBBRERLR H AR #1,000,0007T,/ RUERHERS - TE
ZE-R"FRAZT=R AK#1,000,0007T
Oriental Ideal Coast Yirun Community ~ The PRC RMB 1,200,000/ 65% 65% Provision of medical sale
Health Service Station Company 13 January 2017 RMB1,200,000 services, the PRC
Limited
RAERB RS LR ERBL M AR#4,200,0007T, REZERHERTS -
BRAR I e = ARH1,200,0007T
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31.

32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

31.

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

BB Rl R ()

Place and date

Equity interest Principal activities

of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
FEMARL, B SMELR BRI TEERR
AL B R A REZER rEBEERE TELE B
2023 2022
Bz —T-_F
Beijing Hongsen Environmental The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 85% N/A  Provision of
Services Co., Limited 20 June 2023 RMB5,000,000 environmental health
management, the PRC
EEERRERBERAA hE ARH5,000,0007, THA RERFELERE B
ZEZ=F AZTH ARH5,000,0007T
Hongyilin (Beijing) Rehabiliitation The PRC RMB 100,000/ 90% N/A  Provision of technical
Technology Co., Limited 25 September 2023 RMB100,000 services, the PRC
BRI R)RERRER DA HE AR#100,0007T,/ TER RERIRE - P E
ZEC=FNAAZTARA ARH100,0007T
Beijing Hongzhesen Health The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% N/A  Provision of health
Management Co., Limited 19 September 2023 RMB500,000 consulting services,
the PRC
ERBRRERERFRAR H AR#500,0007T,/ TER RERRFARS -+
ZEZ=FARTAE AR H500,0007T

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.

Note: TheCse companies were registered as a limited liability company in the
PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had non-cash
addition to right-of-use assets of approximately RMB36,846,000
(Note 30).

On 31 December 2023, the Group entered into an offsetting
agreement with Hongkun Weiye, a fellow subsidiary, pursuant to
which the trade amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (included in
amounts from related parties) of RMB1,473,000 had been settled by
offsetting with the amounts due to fellow subsidiaries at aggregate
amount of RMB1,473,000 as at 31 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities or capital commitments.

32.

33.

* XA REEEA
Kz E_%%Qﬁﬁé‘*%iﬂﬁ?%ﬁﬁ&%&@
RER - EEFME QR 2 EITEM

BT
EXFRERS

HE-_Z-=F+-A=+—H &%
S EAEEEERSTIBHAARE
36,846,0007T (FizE30) °

R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H ' ~5£H
BB (— R R B AR EAIE
BT - Bt - ERERMBARME
S5 E (FF A IR T BN AR
#1,473,000 T EBEFER T _=F
+ZA=+—RERRZRKBARKE
Bt A AR 473 000THI T REETS ©

RABE EREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HRRMEE (E)
For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

34. ARQBMHMBARRR

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥TFr
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 151,590 151,590
151,590 151,590
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHB RS 6,405 12,056
6,405 12,056
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H A fERTRIE 2,613 912
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note a) FERTH B R R F A (M ita) 7,690 9,732
10,303 10,644
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ RE(AE) EEFE
ASSETS (3,898) 1,412
NET ASSETS BEE 147,692 153,002
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE
Share capital [N 3,650 3,650
Reserves (Note b) ®E K Eb) 144,042 149,352
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 147,692 153,002

190 Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note a:

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

e PR M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+-_A=1+—RBItFE

34. ARFNMBMRIREK (E)

Higta -

ZESFAREER - B SIREREE -

Note b: Hiitb -
Share Accumulated
premium loss Total
BRORE BRORE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARBTFTT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—HF—H 179,495 (28,017) 151,478
Loss and total comprehensive FEBEBREEAZAE
loss for the year - (2,126) (2,126)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=ZF+=-A=+—H 179,495 (80,143) 149,352
Loss and total comprehensive FEBEREEMAEE
loss for the year = (5,310) (5,310)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 179,495 (85,453) 144,042

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Apart from the events as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have other material events
after the reporting period and up to the date of this report.

35. REMREER
BiRA S BHRRE D ATHENER

S AEBRRERREKEEARER
AW A ERFIR -

’
e
\

i /~‘
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Five-year Financial Summary

A FHMBERE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEER
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NE ZTTF —T-—F T--_F =ZBZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AT ARETIT AREFT ARETFT AR¥TT
Revenue A 273,580 261,405 336,828 343,498 341,405
Gross profit EF| 94,477 63,478 89,630 67,023 61,693
Net profit/(loss) SFRE(ER) 25,878 20,762 31,207 (51,872) (13,746)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES GEEE REZREE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NE ZTTF T-—F _T_F ZB-Z=H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ANRETFiT ARETT AREFT AREFT AR¥TFT
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,139 24,227 87,378 101,121 136,184
Current assets MENEE 236,272 403,574 382,190 315,132 303,300
Total assets BmEE 247,411 427,801 469,568 416,253 439,484
Equity and liabilities EEREE
Non-current liabilities EMBAE 922 16 2,728 3,694 3,107
Current liabilities mEaE 170,428 194,423 202,271 199,785 200,503
Total liabilities wEE 171,350 194,439 204,999 203,479 203,610
Total equity RS 76,061 233,362 264,569 212,774 235,874
Total equity and liabilities wESNBEE 247 411 427,801 469,568 416,253 439,484
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